
 

 

AGENDA 

 
 

 
BWRDD ADDYSG, SGILIAU A LLES Y CABINET 

 
DYDD IAU, 24 TACHWEDD 2022 

  
YN SYTH AR ÔL CYFARFOD PWYLLGOR CRAFFU POLISÏAU AC 

ADNODDAU'R CABINET  
 

CYFARFOD AML-LEOLIAD - SIAMBR Y CYNGOR PORT, TALBOT A 
MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 

 
RHAID GOSOD POB FFÔN SYMUDOL AR Y MODD DISTAW AR 

GYFER PARHAD Y CYFARFOD 
 

Gweddarlledu/Cyfarfodydd Hybrid: 
 

Gellir ffilmio’r cyfarfod hwn i’w ddarlledu’n fyw neu’n ddiweddarach 
drwy wefan y cyngor. Drwy gymryd rhan, rydych yn cytuno i gael 
eich ffilmio ac i’r delweddau a’r recordiadau sain hynny gael eu 

defnyddio at ddibenion gweddarlledu a/neu hyfforddiant o bosib. 
 
 
1.  Penodi Cadeirydd   

 
2.  Cyhoeddiad y Cadeirydd   

 
3.  Datganiadau o fuddiannau   

 
4.  Cofnodion y Cyfarfod Blaenorol  (Tudalennau 3 - 8) 

 
5.  Blaenraglen Waith 2022/23  (Tudalennau 9 - 14) 

 
6.  Amser Cwestiynau Cyhoeddus   

Mae'n rhaid cyflwyno cwestiynau'n ysgrifenedig i'r Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd, democratic.services@npt.gov.uk heb fod yn 
hwyrach na chanol dydd ar y diwrnod gwaith cyn y cyfarfod. Mae'n 
rhaid i'r cwestiynau ymwneud ag eitemau ar yr agenda. Ymdrinnir â 

mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk


chwestiynau o fewn cyfnod o 10 munud. 
 
Ar gyfer penderfyniad 
 

7.  Bandiau C Ysgol/s  (Tudalennau 15 - 32) 
 

8.  Adroddiad Arfarnu Opsiynau Cefn Coed  (Tudalennau 33 - 78) 
 

9.  Creu Partneriaeth Ranbarthol ar gyfer Chwaraeon a Gweithgarwch 
Corfforol yng Ngorllewin Cymru  (Tudalennau 79 - 92) 
 

10.  Eitemau brys   
Unrhyw eitemau brys (boed yn gyhoeddus neu wedi’u heithrio) yn 
ôl disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag Offeryn Statudol 2001 rhif 
2290 (fel y’I diwygiwyd). 
 

 
K.Jones 

Prif Weithredwr 
Canolfan Ddinesig 
Port Talbot  
 18th November 2022 
 

 
 
Aelodau’r Bwrdd Addysg, Sgiliau a Lles y Cabinet:  
 
 
Y Cynghorwyr   J.Hurley a/ac N.Jenkins 
 
 



- 1 - 
 

271022 

 
EXECUTIVE DECISION RECORD 

 
27 OCTOBER 2022 

 
EDUCATION, SKILLS & WELLBEING CABINET BOARD 

 
MULTI-LOCATON MEETING COUNCIL CHAMBER PORT TALBOT AND 

MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
Webcasting/Hybrid Meetings: 

 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s Internet Site. By participating you are consenting to be filmed 
and the possible use of those images and sound recordings for 

webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillors: 
 

N.Jenkins (Chair),J.Hurley (Vice Chair) 
 

Officers in Attendance: 
 
C.Griffiths, R.Crowhurst, H.Lervy, C.Millis and PWalker, S.McCluskie, 
A.Thomas 
 

 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN  

 
Agreed that Cllr N Jenkins, be appointed Chairperson of the meeting.  
 

2. CHAIRPERSONS ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
Cllr Jenkins welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
  

4. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
That the minutes of the previous meeting, held on the 27th September 
2022, be approved as an accurate record. 

Tudalen3

Eitem yr Agenda4



- 2 - 
 

271022 

5. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
That the Education, Skills and Wellbeing Cabinet Board Forward Work 
Programme be noted.  
 

6. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
No questions from the public were received.  
 

7. CHRISTMAS/NEW YEAR OPENING TIMES (LIBRARIES, LEISURE 
CENTRES ETC)  
 
Decision: 
That the Christmas and New Year opening and closing times, for 
Libraries, Theatres, Community Centres, Margam Country Park, Leisure 
Centres and Swimming Pools, be approved, as detailed in appendix 1 
and 2, of the circulated report. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
That the Councils facilities are available to the public, when there is a 
demand for them to be open, and for Managers to make appropriate 
arrangements with front line staff. 
 
Implementation of Decision: 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period, which 
ended at 9.00am on Monday 31st October 2022. 
 
Consultation: 
There is no requirement for an external consultation of this item. 
 

8. ADMISSION TO COMMUNITY SCHOOLS CONSULTATION (OUT FOR 
CONSULTATION)  
 
Decision: 
That having due regard to the Integrated Impact Assessment, the 
Community Schools admission policy 2024/2025, be approved, for 
consultation. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
That the Council meets its statutory duties, and good practice guidelines, 
in respect of the admission of pupils to Community Schools.  
 
Implementation of Decision: 

Tudalen4



- 3 - 
 

271022 

The decision will be implemented after the three-day call in period, which 
ended at 9.00am on Monday 31st October 2022. 
 
Consultation: 
Consultation is required with, the governing bodies of community 
schools, the governing bodies of voluntary aided schools i.e. faith and all 
neighbouring local authorities. In addition, the Council will consult the 
Admission Forum, and the consultation process will cease on the 30th 
December 2022.  
 

9. PARTICIPATION AND ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY (PERMISSION TO 
CONSULT)  
 
Decision: 
That having due regard to the Integrated Impact Assessment, appendix 2 
of the circulated report pack, the Participation and Engagement Strategy, 
be approved for consultation.  
 
Reason of Decision: 
That the Participation and Engagement Strategy be finalised and 
embedded following the consultation. 
 
Implementation: 
The decision will be implemented after the three-day call in period, which 
ended 9.00am Monday 31st October 2022. 
 
Consultation: 
Consultation is to be undertaken with all stakeholders, including schools, 
the third sector, partner services, agencies, parents/carers and children 
and young people. 
 

10. STRATEGIC SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME - NAMING OF 
A NEW WELSH MEDIUM SCHOOL  
 
Decision: 
 

1. That the instrument of Government, as attached as appendix A, of 
the circulated report, be approved, with an incorporation date of the 
1st March 2023, creating a permanent governing body.  
 

2. That the name of the School, be Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg 
Tregeles. 

 
Reason of Decision: 

Tudalen5



- 4 - 
 

271022 

 
To comply with legislative requirements for the establishment of the new 
school, namely Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Tregeles. 
 
Implementation: 
 
The decision will be implemented after the three-day call in period, which 
ended 9.00am on Monday 31st October 2022. 
 

11. PASTORAL SUPPORT PROGRAMME  
 
Decision: 

1. That the new Pastoral Support Programme and reduced timetable 
be approved. 

2. That the alternative provider guidance, be adopted. 
 
Reason of decision: 
That the Programme and alternative provider guidance will further 
strengthen arrangements and monitoring for learners at risk of 
disengagement. 
 
Implementation: 
The decision will be implemented after the three-day call in period, which 
ended 9.00am on Monday 31st October 2022. 
 
Consultation: 
A consultation exercise had been undertaken with relevant stakeholders. 
 

12. WELSH PUBLIC LIBRARY STANDARDS ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21  
 
Decision: 

1. That having given due regard, to the first stage integrated Impact 
Assessment. The Annual return to Welsh Government, be 
approved. 
 

2. That the contents of the Welsh Libraries report 2020-21, be noted.  
 

Reason of Decision: 
That the Council comply with its statutory duty to provide a library service 
in Neath Port Talbot.  
 
Implementation: 
The decision will be implemented after the three-day call in period, which 
ended 9.00am on Monday 31st October 2022. 

Tudalen6



- 5 - 
 

271022 

 
Consultation: 
There is no requirement for an external consultation. 
 

13. WEST GLAMORGAN ARCHIVES SERVICES  
 
Decision: 
That having given due regard to the Integrated Impact Assessment: 
 

1. That the West Glamorgan Archive Service be relocated from 
County Hall, Swansea to the former British Home Stores and 
WHAT! Store. 
 

2. That the Management responsibilities transfer from the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services, to the Head of Support Services 
and Transformation, be noted.  
 

3. That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, be granted, 
delegated Authority to agree and complete a deed of variation, to 
the Joint Committee Agreement of the 11th April 2014, and to 
implement recommendations 1 and 2. 
 

Reason of Decision: 
That the residents of Neath Port Talbot gain access to an archive 
service, pursuant to the Local Government (Records) Act 1972. 
 
Implementation: 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period, which 
ended 9.00am Monday 31st October 2022. 
 
Consultation: 
There is no requirement for consultation in regard to the report. 
Discussions with the City and County of Swansea Council have been 
ongoing as part of the development work.  
 

14. CURRICULUM FOR WALES  
 
Decision: 
That the report be noted. 
 

15. QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
 
Decision: 
That the report be noted. 

Tudalen7



- 6 - 
 

271022 

16. YOUTH SERVICE UPDATE  
 
Decision: 
That the report be noted. 
 

17. LEADERSHIP STRATEGY  
 
Decision: 
That the report be noted. 
 

18. URGENT ITEMS  
 

 
CHAIRPERSON 

Tudalen8



Education Skills and Wellbeing Cabinet Board 

Immediately following Scrutiny Committee starting at 2pm 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Item Type Contact Officer 

8th December 
22 

Adult Learning  Update  Information Michelle Trigg/ 
Angeline Spooner-Cleverley 

 

Education Safeguarding 
 

Information Sam Jones/ 
John Burge 

 

Pupil Attendance Information Hayley Thomas/ 
John Burge 

 

Quarter 2  Performance Monitoring Shaun Davies 
 

 
School Based Counselling Service Update 
 

 
For Information 

 
Rhian Miller/ 

Zoe Ashton-Thomas 
 

 
Free School Meals Update 
 

 
For Information 

 
Rhiannon Crowhurst 

 
Pontardawe Arts Centre – Village Green 
 

 
Decision 

 
Simon Brennan 

T
udalen9

E
item

 yr A
genda5



 

 

 

Meeting Date 
2023 

Agenda Item Type Contact Officer 

19th January 23 Annual School Term Dates (Back from Consultation) 
 

Decision Helen Lewis 

Employability and Skills Update 
 

Information Angeline Spooner –Cleverly 
Keri Jones 

Support Visits Monitoring Mike Daley 
 

Transport Personal Allowance  Decision Rhiannon Crowhurst 

Participation and Engagement Strategy 
(Results of Consultation) 
 

Decision Liz Dennis/ 
Hayley Lervy 

 

  

T
udalen10



 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Item Type Contact Officer 

2nd March School Terms and Holiday Dates (Out of 
Consultation) 

Decision Helen Lewis 

Professional Learning 
 

Information Gayle Shenton 

Admissions to Schools (Results of Consultation) 
 

Decision Helen Lewis/ 
John Burge 

 

Quarter 3 Performance 
 

Monitoring Shaun Davies 

   
  

T
udalen11



 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Item Type Contact Officer 

13th  April    

Elective Home Education 
 

Information John Burge/ 
Hayley Thomas 

 

Equality and Safe Place to Learn 
 

Information Jonathan Roberts 

Foundation Phase Development 
 

Information Sarah Griffiths 

 
Culture Strategy – Update 
(Includes Leisure Services) 
 

 
For Information 

 
Andrew Thomas/ 

Paul Walker 

 
School Capacities Report 
 
 

 
Decision 

 
Rhiannon Crowhurst 

Period Dignity Report 
 

Information Kath Gilbert/ 
John Burge 

 
 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen12



Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Item Type Contact Officer 

25th May    

School Terms and Holiday Dates (Back from 
Consultation) 
 

Decision Helen Lewis 

Seren  Programme Information Karen Thomas 
 

Welsh 2nd Language Support 
 

Information Alison Streetland 

   
 

 T
udalen13



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



 

 

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Education Skills and Wellbeing Cabinet Board  
 

24th November 2022 
 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION, LEISURE  
AND LIFELONG LEARNING 

ANDREW THOMAS 
 
 
 
MATTER FOR DECISION 
 
WARDS AFFECTED:  All  
 
STRATEGIC SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME: 
PROPOSED PROJECTS FOR THE COUNCIL’S NEXT PHASE OF 
INVESTMENT UNDER WELSH GOVERNMENT’S SUSTAINABLE 
COMMUNITIES FOR LEARNING PROGRAMME  
 
Purpose of report 

 
1. To obtain approval of the Council’s submission for the next phase 

of investment to Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities for 
Learning Programme of capital funding.  
 

Executive summary 
 

2. The Welsh Government, through its Sustainable Communities for 
Learning Programme (previously 21st Century Schools and 
Education Programme) of grant funding, supports capital build 
projects for new and replacement schools.  Since 2014 the Council 
has significantly benefitted from this programme, which has 
enabled c.£200m of capital investment to be made in new school 
builds. 
 

3. An outline programme has been developed for further new and 
replacement school projects for inclusion for the next imminent 
phase of investment and early member approval of the proposed 
programme is sought. 

 

Tudalen15

Eitem yr Agenda7



 

 

4. The projects in the proposed outline submission for consideration 
in the next phase of investment under Welsh Government’s 
Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme comprise:  

 
a. Llangatwg Comprehensive c.£30m 

A replacement 11-16 Secondary school for 850 places and new 
16 place Learning Support Centre (LSC). Llangatwg 
Comprehensive is a building condition category C- with backlog 
maintenance and accessibility costs amounting to 
approximately £6.8m. The school has significant surplus 
capacity. It is proposed to construct the new school on the 
playing fields of the existing site.  On completion, the existing 
buildings will be demolished to make way for new playing fields, 
ATP and hard play areas. 

 
b. YGG Rhosafan c.£10.2m 

A replacement 3-11 Primary school for 465 places (incl. 45 
place Nursery) and 16 place LSC. YGG Rhosafan is a Welsh-
medium primary school located in the Sandfields area of Port 
Talbot and is a building condition category C- with backlog 
maintenance and accessibility costs amounting to 
approximately £1.4m. The existing school is nearing capacity 
and pupil numbers are projected to increase. It is proposed to 
replace the school with a new build 21st Century school to 
accommodate increased numbers of Welsh-medium pupils in 
the area. The replacement school will be built on the playing 
fields of the existing site.  On completion of the new build the 
existing building will be demolished to make way for new 
playing fields, MUGA and hard play areas. 

 
c. Tywyn Primary c.£10.8 

A replacement 3-11 Primary school for 465 places (incl. 45 
place Nursery) and a 48 place LSC for pupils with severe 
learning difficulties (SLD) and  profound and multiple learning 
difficulties (PMLD). Tywyn primary school is located in the 
Sandfields area of Port Talbot and is a building condition 
category C- with backlog maintenance and accessibility costs 
amounting to approximately £2.7m. It is proposed to replace the 
school and LSC with a new build 21st Century school. The 
replacement school will be built on the playing fields of the 
existing site.  On completion of the new build the existing 
building will be demolished to make way for new playing fields, 
MUGA and hard play areas. 

Tudalen16



 

 

d. Ysgol Gymraeg Newydd Dwyrain c.£10.2m 
A new Welsh-medium 3-11 Primary school for 465 places (incl 
45 place Nursery) and 16 place LSC Total 481 places. A review 
of Welsh-medium provision has identified the need to establish 
a new school in the East of the County Borough. The new school 
will provide for 465 pupils (including a 45 place Nursery) and 
incorporate a 16 place LSC. There is a need to identify a suitable 
area of land of approximately 24,000m2 along the A48 corridor 
between Port Talbot Town Centre and Margam.  

 
e. St Joseph’s RC School and Sixth Form Centre and St. 

Joseph’s Catholic Junior School c.£45m 
A new build 21st Century 7-18 Middle School for 1130 places 
and a 16 place LSC. St Joseph’s RC School and Sixth Form 
Centre is condition category C- with backlog maintenance and 
accessibility costs amounting to approximately £7.5m.  St. 
Joseph’s Catholic Junior School building is condition category 
C with backlog maintenance and accessibility costs amounting 
to approximately £470K. The replacement school would be built 
on the playing fields of the existing sites.  On completion of the 
new build the existing buildings will be demolished to make way 
for new playing fields, ATP, MUGA and hard play areas. 

 
5. These projects address the poorest condition school buildings whilst 

seeking to improve service delivery and address potential risks to 
business continuity.  There are many more schemes that need be 
tackled with the support of future funding initiatives. Authorisation is 
sought for officers to explore with Welsh Government Officials the 
grant funding opportunities available and secure the most beneficial 
option for the Council. 
 

Background 
 

6. The Council is responsible for promoting high educational 
standards and for delivering efficient primary and secondary 
education.  Having the right schools in the right place and ensuring 
that they are fit for the 21st century learner is the ongoing challenge 
facing the Council.  Achieving this involves reviewing the number 
and type of schools the Council has in its area and assessing 
whether or not best use is being made of resources and facilities.  
This will include ensuring suitable provision for those pupils with 
special educational needs/additional learning needs. 
 

Tudalen17



 

 

7. The Council established a Strategic School Improvement 
Programme (SSIP) in 2008; a programme that has brought about 
significant change to the school estate during the ensuing period, 
including new build schools supported by Band A of the Welsh 
Government’s 21st Century Schools programme of capital funding. 
 

8. The SSIP is supported by a principles paper that sets out a 
programme of development ensuring that schools are “fit for 
purpose” and capable of delivering high quality education.  
Proposals for change are to be based on: 

 educational standards 

 the need for places and the accessibility of schools 

 the quality and suitability of school accommodation 

 effective financial management 
 

9. Implementing the SSIP has involved reviewing existing provision in 
order to deliver education effectively and efficiently across the 
County Borough.  It has led to substantial change involving 
opening new schools, closing existing schools, merging or 
amalgamating schools, federating schools and promoting new 
initiatives that support collaborative working between schools.  It 
has also involved re-organising education provision to ensure 
pupils gain access to and benefit from the specialist support, skills 
and expertise available within the County Borough. 
 

10. School reorganisation involving capital build projects has been 
supported by Welsh Government grant funding since 2014 through 
the 21st Century Schools Programme (from January 2022 Welsh 
Government rebranded the programme and it is now referred to as 
the Sustainable Communities for Leaning Programme). This has 
provided grant funding at intervention rates of 50% for previous 
Band A and 65% (75% for Special Schools) for Band B capital 
schemes, with the remaining balances being found from the 
Council’s own resources, substantively from its prudential 
borrowing capacity. 
 

15. The following schemes have already been successfully delivered 
and occupied: 

 
Awel Y Mor (2013) 
Ysgol Bae Baglan (2016) 
Ysgol Carreg Hir (2018) 
Ysgol Gymraeg Ystalyfera Bro Dur (North and South) (2018, 2022) 

Tudalen18



 

 

Ysgol Cwm Brombil (2018) 
Cefn Saeson Comprehensive (2021) 
Abbey Primary (2022) 
 

School estate – the context 
 
11. In 2010, Neath Port Talbot supported 71 primary schools, 11 

secondary schools and 3 special schools providing for a school 
based population of approximately 21,000. Backlog maintenance 
and accessibility costs were estimated to be c.£110m.  

 
12. For Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council, the next phase of 

investment though Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities 
for Learning Programme commences with a more efficient and 
much improved school portfolio which, at September 2022, 
consists of 52 primary schools, 5 secondary schools, 3 ‘all through’ 
middle schools and 2 special schools providing for a school based 
population of approximately 21,000. Backlog maintenance and 
accessibility costs were estimated to be c.£64m. 

 
The need for change 
 
13. Despite making excellent progress, the Council, like many other 

authorities across Wales, continues managing an ageing school 
estate.  Maintaining a school building portfolio where many 
premises are experiencing deteriorating internal/external fabric and 
end of life mechanical and electrical services presents a dilemma 
for the Council financially and operationally. 
 

14. With limited finances to support this area of work the identified 
backlog maintenance requirements for schools still significantly 
exceeds the amount of capital resources available annually. 
 

15. In very many schools the mechanical and electrical services are in 
need of replacement due to their age and condition whilst leaking 
windows, deteriorating kitchens and utilities, damp and flat roof 
replacements pose challenging problems requiring costly 
refurbishment solutions.  In some instances it may not be fully 
practicable to undertake a complete refurbishment scheme of the 
building, due to the dated systems of the original construction and 
inadequate site conditions. 

 

Tudalen19



 

 

16. Backlog maintenance costs have been calculated to provide a ‘like-
for-like’ replacement of the element.   The maintenance costs only 
considers the work to be undertaken within the next five years and 
does not include for future works outside this timescale.  Once the 
identified work is developed into a scheme, these costs can rise 
considerably to allow for the upgrading of areas for modern and 
future use, and reorganising layouts to address the current 
teaching requirements of the school. 
 

17. Undertaking backlog maintenance works identified in the condition 
reports will have a significant effect on the service delivery of the 
schools e.g. some schools would have to close for a substantial 
period and in certain cases, there would be a need to construct a 
temporary building of similar size, for teaching pupils in the interim. 
These costs are not allowed for within the backlog maintenance 
estimates. 

 
18. Even if the work was affordable, the effect would be to make good 

the sustainability of the building but is unlikely to result in the 
delivery of a 21st century school environment or address provision 
and sufficiency of places, i.e. having the right school in the right 
place. 
 

19. Investment in the proposed projects within the next phase of Welsh 
Government’s Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme 
will result in 6 new build schools, 4 replacing 5 existing builds.  This 
will remove a further c.£19m of backlog maintenance and 
accessibility costs.   

 
20. This next phase of investment does not aspire to fully address 

building condition liabilities across the school estate as capital 
investment is limited, not least by the ability of the Council to match 
fund from its own resources and borrowing capacity. 
 

21. Projects proposed for this next phase of investment aim to address 
the poorest condition school buildings whilst also seeking change 
to improve service delivery.  They also address risks to business 
continuity (as best that they can be predicted).There are many 
more schemes that will still need to be tackled with the support of 
future funding initiatives. 
 

22. Through the two completely new schools the Council will seek to 
address Welsh in Education Plan targets to increase the number of 

Tudalen20



 

 

pupils accessing Welsh-medium education, as well as addressing 
challenges of providing specialist education for pupils with 
Additional Learning Needs  
 

Consultation 
 

23. This report seeks Member approval for a submission to the Welsh 
Government for the next round of funding under its Sustainable 
Communities for Leaning Programme. 
 

24. As the proposed programme develops each project will be subject 
to consultation with the respective school communities.  Should a 
project involve the closure of a school formal consultation will be 
undertaken in line with legislative requirements. 

 
Financial Impacts 

 
25. Although final details have not yet been published, in supporting 

the next phase of investment of their Sustainable Communities for 
Leaning Programme, it is likely that Welsh Government will 
continue to offer two grant funding options: the traditional capital 
grant funding route based on a 35% contribution from the Council 
(25% for Special Schools) and a Mutual Investment Model (MIM) 
requiring a 19% contribution from the Council.  
 

26. Discussions will take place with the Welsh Government over the 
most beneficial route for the Council to follow. 
 

27. One of the projects contained within the Council’s outline Band B 
submission will generate annual revenue savings.  Savings 
generated as a result of the Strategic School Improvement 
Programme (SSIP), of which Sustainable Communities for 
Learning is a significant component part, are ring fenced for further 
reinvestment in the Education Service.  In order to assist with the 
funding of this programme, opportunities to convert the revenue 
savings into ‘Prudential Borrowing’ using its powers under the 2003 
Local Government Act and corresponding WAG regulations will be 
maximised.  In addition to utilising Prudential Borrowing, the 
Council will supplement its funding through the use of capital 
receipts where available. 
 

Tudalen21



 

 

28. Should sufficient match funding not be secured then the 
programme of projects will need to be revised in line with the 
resources available. 
 

29. The proposals outlined may result in existing school sites being 
surplus to requirements.  Assumptions in relation to potential 
capital receipts have not been made as there is too much 
uncertainty surrounding the timing, alternative usage and the 
amounts of any potential receipts that might be generated.  Land 
values within the County Borough are not generally high, however 
and as appropriate, receipts will be included as schemes develop 
and as design details lead to greater cost certainty. 
 

Management of programme 
 
30.  Since September 2008, the Council has adopted a structured 

approach to the rationalisation of educational provision in the 
County Borough – the Strategic Schools Improvement Programme 
(SSIP).  This Programme is underpinned by four key principles: 
standards in education; the need for places and the accessibility of 
schools; the quality and suitability of school accommodation; and 
effective financial management. 
 

31. This approach enables the Council to meet its statutory duties to 
provide ‘fit for purpose’ schools that deliver high quality education 
across the County Borough.  The SSIP sets the context in which 
decisions on the organisation of school places in Neath Port Talbot 
are made.  It facilitates the planned delivery of a managed 
programme for change. 
 

32. The programme of projects is overseen by the Council’s Corporate 
Directors’ Group (CDG) reporting to the Council’s Executive.  The 
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is the Corporate Director for 
Education, Leisure and Lifelong Learning who sits on the CDG. 

 
33. To ensure decisions are informed by a wide base of stakeholders 

key officers of the Council from Finance, Education Improvement, 
Inclusion and Early Years , Human Resources, Corporate Strategy, 
Environment, ICT and Legal Services will be engaged as 
necessary as will Service Users.  Additional stakeholders and 
project sponsors are involved on a specific programme/project 
basis. 
 

Tudalen22



 

 

Integrated Impact Assessment  
 
34. A first stage Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been 

undertaken to assist the Council in discharging its legislative duties 
(under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language Standards 
(No.1) Regulations 2015, and the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 the Environment (Wales) Act 2016). 
 

35. The first stage screening assessment is attached as appendix A. 
This indicates that there is no requirement for a full IIA at this 
stage, however as each individual scheme is progressed an IIA 
and, as appropriate, a Welsh Language Impact Assessment will be 
developed.   
 

Valley Communities Impacts  
 

36. There is no impact on valley communities as result of this report.  
 
Workforce impacts 

 
37. Across the proposed programme of projects contained in this 

report, there are likely to be changes that could potentially impact 
on the employment of school staff, particularly where existing 
schools might close.   
 

38. Staff impact will be scheme specific and, as such, will be managed 
on a scheme by scheme basis.  However, in all cases staffing 
structures will be the responsibility of the head teacher and the 
school’s governing body.  In the case of a new school, this will be 
the temporary governing body.  In relation to school closures, the 
Council’s policy is for the posts of head teacher and deputy head 
teacher to be advertised nationally.  For other school based staff, 
i.e. teaching and support, as part of any re-organisation process 
staff will be supported by the relevant school policies and 
procedures which will include full consultation.  Previous 
experience has shown that some staff wish to secure employment 
in the new school but others take the opportunity to take on new 
challenges elsewhere.  Employees identified at risk of redundancy 
will be given access to the Council’s prior consideration register. 
 

39. The Council is committed to supporting staff at risk of compulsory 
redundancy and has secured the support and goodwill of the 
teacher associations/trade unions and governing bodies across the 

Tudalen23



 

 

Council, via an employers’ pledge. The Council has a good track 
record for supporting staff in such situations. 

 
Legal impacts 

 
40. Where required school reorganisation processes will be 

undertaken in line with the Welsh Government’s School 
organisation Code 2018. 
 

41. Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities for learning funding 
is granted subject to specific conditions. 

 
42. Procurement of contractors in respect of Sustainable Communities 

for Learning schemes will be in line with the South West Wales 
Regional Contractors Framework.  
 

Risk management 
 

43. The potential risks associated with the proposals comprise the 
Council’s reputation, educational standards, service delivery, 
financial management of public money, procurement and 
contractual arrangements. 
 

44. The Council will work to manage the risks and associated 
dependencies and constraints through strong programme/project 
management and robust governance arrangements. 
 

45. A risk mitigation strategy will be employed to lower the likelihood of 
the risk occurring and/or to minimise the impact on the programme 
if the risk did occur.  
 

46. Effective risk management will be fundamental to the successful 
delivery of the programme and as such, the programme risk 
register will be reviewed regularly throughout and identified risks 
arising from the projects will be scrutinised, evaluated and 
mitigated. 

 
Recommendation 

 
47. Having given due regard to the first stage integrated impact 

assessment, it is recommended that: 
 

Tudalen24



 

 

a. Members approve the projects contained in this  report to be 
submitted to the Welsh Government for grant funding 
consideration under the Sustainable Communities for Learning 
Programme; and 

 
b. Officers be authorised to explore with Welsh Government 

Officials the grant funding opportunities available within the 
programme and secure the most beneficial option for the 
Council. 

 
Reasons for proposed decision 

 
48. This decision is necessary to access Welsh Government 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme grant funding 
for capital projects. 
 

49. Subject to the outcome of the grant funding application, 
implementation of the programme of projects will enable the 
Council to promote high educational standards and the fulfilment of 
every child’s potential.  It will also enable the Council to meet its 
duty to secure efficient education in its area. 
 

Implementation of the decision 
 

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: First stage IIA 

 
List of background papers 

 
a) Strategic School Improvement Programme Principles Paper: 

September 2008 
https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet/20080924/Agenda/$CAB-240908-
REP-EL-KN.doc.pdf  
  

b) Welsh Government - School Organisation Code: November 2018  
https://gov.wales/school-organisation-code   
 

c) School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/pdfs/anaw_20130001_en.pdf  
 

Tudalen25

https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet/20080924/Agenda/$CAB-240908-REP-EL-KN.doc.pdf
https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet/20080924/Agenda/$CAB-240908-REP-EL-KN.doc.pdf
https://gov.wales/school-organisation-code
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/pdfs/anaw_20130001_en.pdf


 

 

Officer Contact 
 
Andrew Thomas  
Director of Education, Leisure and Lifelong learning  
Email: a.d.thomas@npt.gov.uk  
 
Rhiannon Crowhurst  
Head of Support Services and Transformation  
Email r.crowhurst@npt.gov.uk  
 
Kate Windsor Brown 
Transformation Co-ordinator  
Email: k.windsor-brown@npt.gov.uk  

Tudalen26

mailto:a.d.thomas@npt.gov.uk
mailto:r.crowhurst@npt.gov.uk
mailto:k.windsor-brown@npt.gov.uk


Appendix A  
Impact Assessment - First Stage  

 
1. Details of the initiative  
  

Initiative description and summary: Report to obtain approval of the Council’s submission for the next phase of 

investment to Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme of capital funding 

Service Area:  SSIP  

Directorate: ELLLs 

 
2. Does the initiative affect:   
 

 Yes No 

Service users x  

Staff x  

Wider community x  

Internal administrative process only   x 

 
3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their:  
 

 Yes  No None/ 
Negligible 

Don’t 
Know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact? 

Age  x    H Positive impact on children and young people due to 
improved education facilities  

Disability  x    H Positive impact due to improved education facilities 
meeting all accessibility regulations  

Gender Reassignment  x    This is not a criterion that will be impacted upon by this 
proposal 

Marriage/Civil Partnership  x    This is not a criterion that will be impacted upon by this 
proposal 

T
udalen27



 
 

2 

 

Pregnancy/Maternity  x    This is not a criterion that will be impacted upon by this 
proposal 

Race  x    This is not a criterion that will be impacted upon by this 
proposal 

Religion/Belief x    H One proposed scheme would improve educational 
facilities for children and young people accessing faith 
education . 

Sex  x    This is not a criterion that will be impacted upon by this 
proposal 

Sexual orientation  x    This is not a criterion that will be impacted upon by this 
proposal 

 

4. Does the initiative impact on: 

 

 Yes  No None/ 

Negligible 

Don’t 
know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact? 

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language  

x    H Positive impact –  

Two schemes involve expanding or creating Welsh-medium 
schools, leading to improved educational and community 
facilities   Treating the Welsh 

language no less 
favourably than English  

x    H 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen28



 
 

3 

 

 

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity: 

 Yes  No None/ 
Negligible 

Don’t 
know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) /  
 

How might it impact? 

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity  

 x  
  

Full ecology surveys would be undertaken for each individual 
scheme if progressed, with mitigating actions to ensure that 
there is no negative impact. This would be a condition of both 
planning approval and grant funding   

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 
such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc.  

 x  

  

 

 

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working): 

 Yes  No Details 

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people  

x  If progressed each scheme will have a positive impact on well-being 
through provision of improved education and community facilities  

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives  

x  Positive impacts noted –  

Objective 1 – children have the best start in life  

Objective 2 -  all communities are thriving and sustainable 

T
udalen29



 
 

4 

 

 

 

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate): 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required  x 

Reasons for this conclusion    

 

The report seeks permission to submit potential schemes to Welsh Government for further scrutiny and approval. Currently there 
are no identified negative impacts through this action, and only general positive impacts have been noted. 

At the point of progressing an individual scheme it will be necessary to carry out a further IIA when the specific elements of each 
scheme is more developed and greater information will be available.  

 

Objective 4 – Jobs and skills  

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative  

x  Full consultation will be required for each proposal if progressed.  

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions 

x  Full consultation will be required for each proposal if progressed. 

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse  

x  If schemes are progressed – 

Replacement schools will provide 21st century educational and community 
facilities 

Newly established schools will alleviate pressures on ALN specialist places 
and Welsh –medium places 

T
udalen30



 
 

5 

 

 

 

 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required   

Reasons for this conclusion    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Name Position Signature Date 

Completed by Rhiannon Crowhurst  Head of Service  10.11.22 

Signed off by  Andrew Thomas  Director   10.11.22 

T
udalen31



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



 

   

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 EDUCATION SKILLS AND WELLBEING CABINET BOARD  

24th November 2022 

 
Rhiannon Crowhurst 

 
                     Head of Support Services and Transformation   

 

Matter for:  Decision 

Wards Affected: All 

The Cefn Coed Colliery Museum: Options for the Future 

1. Purpose of the Report  

The purpose of this report is to seek approval, in principle, for the primary 
recommendations contained in the Cefn Coed Colliery Museum: Options 
for the Future Report, subject to the availability of funding streams.  

2. Executive Summary 

Cefn Coed Colliery Museum is currently closed to the public as a 
consequence of health and safety issues which require remedial building 
works to the value over £1m. A report was commissioned looking at 
future options for the site. This will be considered alongside the 
development of Neath Port Talbot's Culture Strategy currently being 
produced by Counterculture.   

3. Background  

Chris Delaney and Associates were appointed to produce a report 
outlining all future options for Cefn Coed Colliery Museum. The report 
considered the following: 

Tudalen33

Eitem yr Agenda8



 

   

- The scale of costs required for essential repairs to enable the museum 
to safely reopen to the public. 

- Possible alternative uses for the site and buildings. 

- An examination of the role and contribution of Cefn Coed Colliery 
Museum as a heritage site and tourist destination.   

- A review of current and future regeneration opportunities for Cefn Coed.  

- Alternative sources of income via grants and external funding.  

- Income generation opportunities.  

4. Financial Impact  

In the first instance £1m is required to deal with the immediate health and 
safety issues. The longer term vision outlined in the report would require 
further funding and investment over the next five to ten years which would 
be sourced from external grant funding.  

5. Integrated Impact Assessment  

A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken and is appended 
as (Appendix 2) to assist the Council in discharging its legislative duties 
(under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

The first stage assessment has indicated that a more in-depth 
assessment is not required.   

6. Valleys Communities Impacts 

Cefn Coed is one of a number of important heritage sites in Neath Port 
Talbot's valleys. These sites will be identified in the Culture Strategy 
currently being developed.   

7. Workforce Impacts 

There are no workforce impacts associated with this report. 

Tudalen34



 

   

8. Legal Impacts 

There are no legal impacts associated with this report 

9. Risk Management 

The Future Options Report identifies a number of risks and key 
recommendations associated with the site.   

10. Consultation 

Chris Delaney and Associates did consult with internal and external 
stakeholders during the production of the report. Wider consultation will 
be undertaken by Counterculture as part of developing a Culture Strategy 
for NPT.   

11. Recommendations  

It is recommended that Members approve the options outlined in the 
report, in principle, subject to the identification of funding streams. 

12. Reasons for Proposed Decision  

The proposal will enable the Authority to plan and explore future options 
for the development of the Cefn Coed museum site.  

13. Implementation of Decision 

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period.   

14. Appendices 

1. The Cefn Coed Colliery Museum: Options for the Future Report - Chris 
Delaney and Associates. 

2. Impact Assessment.   

15. List Background Papers of  

None.  

Tudalen35



 

   

Officer Contact 

Paul Walker Operations Coordinator. p.walker@npt.gov.uk 07899923478 

Wayne John, County Librarian w.john@npt.gov.uk 01639 899829 

Tudalen36

mailto:p.walker@npt.gov.uk
mailto:w.john@npt.gov.uk


 

  

2022 

 

Chris Delaney & Associates 

 

The Cefn Coed Colliery Museum : Options for 
the Future 

Tudalen37



2 | P a g e  
 

Summary of Recommendations 

 

Chris Delaney and Associates were appointed by Neath & Port Talbot Council to 

produce an independent review and options study for the future of the museum at the 

former Cefn Coed Colliery. 

 

 

Key Recommendations 

The primary recommendations coming out of the study are: 

We recommend that the authority: 

 Retain the Cefn Coed Museum complex and carry out an extensive maintenance 

programme to meet the requirements of the lease and to prevent any further 

deterioration of the buildings on the site. 

 Commission a development and interpretative plan to start the process of taking 

the museum forward into a new era, that compliments, enhances and expands 

the present institution, so it can provide the facilities and programmes that the 

public and schools now expect from a museum. The plan will underpin the 

Heritage Strategy being developed for the authority.  

 The interpretative plan needs to include more than the history of coal in the 

county. It should also look at other historic industries once active in the area.  It 

should also examine the environmental and social impact of these industries. 

The plan needs to relate the story of coal to current issues including climate 

crisis, energy costs and the role of renewable sustainable energy. The plan will 

support learners to make progress, which is a fundamental driver for the new 

curriculum in Wales. 

 The Heritage Strategy should extend beyond the historic environment and 

include all aspects of heritage, particularly museums and collections. 

 The museum should remain closed for the foreseeable future and the collections 

should be professionally removed in the short term and stored pending the 

interpretative plan and then its implementation and development. 

 The authority should invest in the service, providing more revenue resources, so 

that it can move towards an Accreditive service capable of attracting additional 

capital resources. 

 The authority should discuss the lease, redefining the leased area to include at 

least access to the headframes, grant aid towards repairs to the historic fabric of 

the listed structures and the long-term management of the area with Cadw.  

 The model railway would be incompatible with the new proposals and should 

not form part of the Interpretative Plan or be incorporated into any of the 

Tudalen38



3 | P a g e  
 

existing buildings. The authority should make alternative provision for it on the 

site.  

 

  

Tudalen39



4 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

The Brief .............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Background ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

 ............................................................................................................................................................ 6 

2. Heritage Significance ......................................................................................................................... 10 

The Heritage Buildings and Structure ................................................................................................... 10 

The Policy and Strategic Framework for Museums and Heritage ........................................................ 18 

3. Exploring the Brief ............................................................................................................................. 22 

SWOT ................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Finances ............................................................................................................................................ 27 

Tourism and Visitors ......................................................................................................................... 30 

Business Planning & Volunteers ....................................................................................................... 31 

Funding Sources ................................................................................................................................ 31 

4. Recommendations ............................................................................................................................ 33 

Selected Bibliography ........................................................................................................................... 34 

 

  

Tudalen40



5 | P a g e  
 

1. Introduction 

The Brief 

1. Chris Delaney and Associates, the consultancy appointed to lead this study, is 

based in west Wales and focuses on the museum and heritage sector. This 

project has been undertaken by Chris Delaney himself and he has not 

engaged any associates to assist him. He has undertaken similar feasibility 

and options appraisal studies for several authorities in Wales as well as 

Welsh Government. These projects involved consultation with a wide range 

of public, private and third sector providers and users of museum and 

heritage services in Wales. He has significant strategic and operational 

management experience of the museum and heritage sector in a local 

authority context. The report considers the following: 

 The production of an updated SWOT analysis for the museum 
 A consideration of the scale of the costs required for essential repairs to enable 

the museum to safely reopen to the public and consider long term maintenance 
of the site. 

 A consideration of possible alternative uses for the buildings together with their 
management and long-term ownership. 

 A review of existing council reports / visitor information relating to Cefn Coed 
supplied by officers. 

 An examination of the role and contribution of Cefn Coed colliery museum as a 
heritage site and tourist destination in Wales and more specifically NPTC. 

 A review of current and future regeneration opportunities for Cefn Coed Colliery 
Museum. 

 An outline of alternative sources of income via grants and external funding 
opportunities available to develop and improve the site. 

 A requirement to consult with all interested stakeholders, including Welsh 
Government (site owners), CADW, local communities on options for operating 
and developing the site. 

 A consideration of a business plan assessing the potential levels of visitors and 
engagement, together with income generating opportunities to limit any increase 
to the subsidy from NPT. 

 An assessment of potential opportunities for volunteers / groups on site to assist 
with the operation of the museum café, shop and support external events. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tudalen41



6 | P a g e  
 

Background 

 

 

 

 

2. The museum is located near the village of Crynant in the Dulais Valley and 

sits within the county of Neath Port Talbot. It tells the history of mining at the 

former Cefn Coed Colliery, which is shown in the above photograph in around 

1955. The museum has seen a substantial reduction in budget, opening times, 

staffing levels, coupled with a lack of investment in maintenance which has 

impacted on visitor figures. It has not re-opened since Covid lock down, 

March 2020, due to health and safety issues and other concerns 

 

3.  Cefn Coed Colliery was started by the Amalgamated Anthracite Company in 

1926 and by the time coal was first raised in 1930, it was the deepest 

anthracite coal mine in the world. The mine ceased production in 1968. The 

museum now incorporates the remaining mine buildings including two head 

frames, the boiler house with the largest collection of steam boilers in the UK 

and the compressor house with the largest winding engine in Wales. 

Tudalen42



7 | P a g e  
 

 

4. The museum is the surviving part of a once larger service and has lost staff 

and exhibition spaces and its archaeology and local history collections are in 

a storage facility. The service has in addition, lost its museum Accreditation 

status due to these austerity measures. 

 

5. While there remains a desire by Neath Port Talbot Council to secure the 

future of the site and its historical features the current financial situation 

makes this difficult and in addition the capital requirement needed to develop 

the museum and create a new and innovative provision and visitor attraction 

is difficult to access.  

 

6. All of the site is owned by Welsh Government. NPTC only lease an area 

including some of the buildings, although Cadw does give permission for the 

museum to use the wider area for the annual events. West Glamorgan County 

Council took the original 99-year lease dated from July 1st1978, which 

transferred to NPTC on local government reorganisation in 1996. 

 

7. The lease for the site between NPTC and Welsh Government (Cadw) is a 

repairing lease and an investment of almost one million pound (December 

2020 maintenance reports) would be required to bring the property into a 

state fit enough to allow the authority to surrender the lease, if it so desired. 

It could then extricate itself from the site. This may be negotiable and 

financially might reduce slightly. However, NPTC has been and is responsible 

for maintenance and repairs on the site of the leased buildings. Post Covid 

building costs are rising alarmingly. 

 

8. There have been a series of reports looking at developing the site and more 

recently examining the safety and maintenance needs of the buildings. The 

earliest Options report was commissioned in 2009 from Knight Frank 

property consultants. A very ambitious scheme, a Masterplan, was developed 

in 2019. Grants of over £2.7 million were secured, but surveys indicated that 

the scheme needed up to £7 million for the project to be fully realised. No 

further funding was available, so the project was cancelled.  The building 

review concluded that in general the majority of the structural elements 

assessed during the initial site visit appeared to be in a neglected, but 

structurally sound condition, with only a few areas showing some evidence of 

potential damage caused by the age of the structure and exposure to the 

external/ underground, damp environment.  

Tudalen43



8 | P a g e  
 

 

9. The engineers recommended the most appropriate maintenance regime to 

prolong the life span of the structure. They also concluded that some areas 

were unsafe for both structural and asbestos reasons. They advised the 

council to consult a temporary works specialist to obtain their 

recommendations on how the area should be made safe and accessible ahead 

of any further survey or making good works. This has meant that post Covid 

the museum has not re-opened. 

 

10. In addition to the building surveys undertaken in 2020, architects looked at 

the feasibility of converting the existing engine house into a new visitor 

centre. Welsh Government (Cadw) has currently invested circa £1,500,000 at 

the site through the restoration of the two Grade 2* Listed pit head frames 

which will safeguard the future of these iconic structures.  

 

 

Cefn Coed Colliery – surviving Heritage & Ownership 

Tudalen44



9 | P a g e  
 

11. Consultation with local members and the representative of the Friends has 

indicated strong support for investment in the museum and buildings. 

However, they recognise that the site’s location within the authority is an 

issue and that there are other heritage sites in the authority that need further 

investment. Several voluntary groups are involved in the museum and their 

role needs to be reviewed. 

12. We are grateful for the support and discussions with officers of the authority 

and Cadw who provided background information regarding the site.  

 
 

  

Tudalen45



10 | P a g e  
 

2. Heritage Significance 

The Heritage Buildings and Structure 
 

13. Cefn Coed Colliery is a significant survival from the coal industry in Wales 

and is worthy of preservation. The authority has a responsibility to ensure 

that the listed buildings in its care are well maintained and continue to 

survive. The buildings need urgent maintenance so that they do not fall into a 

downward spiral of decay. The significance of the site and structures is 

recognised by Welsh Government (Cadw) and they are protected by the legal 

status of Listing and most of the structures are at a significant grading level, 

Grade11*. Cefn Coed Colliery was sunk in 1926-7 and at that time was the 

deepest anthracite mine in the world with two shafts over 732m deep. The 

colliery began production of high-quality anthracite in 1930, employed over 

900 men in 1945 and closed in 1968. The site remained in use in association 

with the Blaenant Drift Mine in the valley floor to the south, which was driven 

in the 1960s and closed in 1990. The Cefn Coed Colliery Museum was 

established in 1978. Cefn Coed is recognised as a key site in the area and 

authority in the developing Heritage Strategy. 

14. The remains include the only surviving pre-war head frames in the anthracite 

coal field, and one of only two sets of the once widespread lattice girder 

construction left anywhere in South Wales. The wording of the Cadw Listing 

confirms that they have important group value in relation to the adjacent 

preserved buildings of the Cefn Coed Colliery Museum, “forming principal 

landmarks of this site as a whole”. As well as the headframes which are 

adjacent but not part of NPTC leased area, the site has within its curtilage 

several important monuments including the colliery's chimney, its original 

steam boiler house and the engine house. That range includes the compressor 

house, the electrical generating house and the winding house of No 2 shaft 

with the original steam winding engines. The associated steam capstan 

engine, said to be the only surviving example made in Wales, was used for the 

original construction of the shaft and was maintained for emergency use.  

15. Even though the two lattice girder headframes for shafts 1 and 2 are not part 

of the museum leased area, they are a key part of the original colliery, 

supported and valued by Welsh Government and can be seen and interpreted 

from the museum buildings. One of the headframes dates to the 

establishment of the colliery in 1926-7 and constructed of steel lattice girders 

with four vertical supports and two bracing buttresses extending from the 

head of the tower to the ground on the winding engine side. Each support has 

a brick plinth at ground level. The lattice girders are joined by rivetted plates. 

Both structures are some 18m high, with winding sheaves still in place at 

Tudalen46



11 | P a g e  
 

their tops, and form considerable landmarks in the valley. No 1 headframe is 

the more northerly of the two, and tops the upcast shaft, which was 

connected underground to the nearby fan house. The interior of the tower is 

boxed in with steel plates to control ventilation and cause air to be drawn in 

down No 2 shaft.  

16. Several original buildings have been demolished and lost, but the key 

significant elements do survive and are listed both for their original use and 

importance, but also their group value. The chimney was built probably in the 

late 1940s, to replace a metal chimney in the same position and of similar 

height and proportion.   The colliery chimney is of red brick, mainly circular 

in form, slightly tapering with a convex cornice some 2-3m below the top. The 

base is hipped to form a wider octagonal ground plan. There is a blocked 

doorway on the north side with a semi-circular arch of brick voussoirs and at 

the rear a large iron door and control machinery. Connected to the base of the 

chimney at the rear is a large brick flue running N and rising from the boiler 

house. The chimney and flue served the six Lancashire boilers in the adjacent 

buildings which provided steam to run the winding engines.   The chimney is 

listed for group value with this exceptionally complete colliery complex, 

rarity as a surviving colliery chimney and flue, and value as a local landmark.   

17. The engine house is a range of 3 gabled buildings adjacent to the main road. 

The steam capstan engine situated immediately adjacent to the west side of 

the central building.  The range is in a contiguous group: the compressor 

house at north end, the winding engine house in the centre, and the electrical 

house at the south. Each building has a gabled slate roof and is constructed in 

red brick. All have metal multi-pane windows with arched heads formed by 

concrete lintels. The windows are set into tall, recessed panels with flat heads 

of stepped brickwork. The winding engine house is the middle of the range 

faces the No 2 headframe. The south most building, the electrical house, is the 

largest and is slightly later, having the blocked-up windows of the winding 

engine house in its north wall, but conforming with the others in architectural 

detailing. The associated steam capstan engine, of horizontal single cylinder 

capstan type was made by Llewellyn and Cubitt of Ton Pentre, Rhondda, in 

the 1920s. It is situated immediately beyond the west gable of the winding 

engine house.  This range is listed at grade II* for its exceptional 

completeness as a group of central colliery buildings of the 1920s, and 

especially for the rare survival in place of a compressor and two original 

winding engines. Of these the steam capstan engine is a rare example of its 

type and may be the only survivor made in Wales.   

18.  The compressor house originally contained 2 compressors, supplying 

compressed air to power tools underground. One survives, a Bellis and 

Morcom compressor made in 1946. The winding engine house contains a 

Tudalen47



12 | P a g e  
 

large horizontal twin cylinder winding engine built in 1927 by the Worsley 

Mesnes Ironworks of Wigan, one of the leading makers of winding engines. 

The cylinders are disposed either side of the winding drum and have a bore 

of over 80cm and a stroke of over 1.5m. The drum is some 3m wide and 

nearly 5m in diameter. The engine house is floored with brick pavers in 

herring bone patterns. The electrical building housed electricity generating 

equipment, the beds of which can be seen, but the interior has been cleared. A 

2.4m high gallery survives along the S wall, supported by iron columns    

19. The row of six Lancashire boilers, survives in excellent condition from their 

installation in 1926/7. The earliest of the boilers was re-used from another 

site and dates to 1910. Four of the six were converted in 1958 to run on 

methane gas brought from the mine workings rather than coal. They are of 

wrought iron, set in a brick plinth, and stood in the open air in this form. A 

modern structure now covers and protects them.   They are listed at grade II* 

as the sole remaining set of colliery steam boilers in Wales, and for group 

value with this exceptionally complete colliery complex.   

20. The pump house contained steam-operated pumps to supply water to the 

boilers.   It is a single-storey building, sunk into the ground, gabled at front 

and back and with five metal-framed windows down its S side. The gable 

ends each have double doors and a circular opening in the gable itself. It is 

constructed of brick with concrete lintels, like the other original colliery 

buildings on the site, It has an asbestos roof.   Two small steam-driven pumps 

made by Weir survive inside the building. These were installed in c.1930.  

21. The national and possible international significance of the complex is 

recognised by experts. Cefn Coed is a site of national significance and is part 

of an important Welsh industry that had a key role in the development of 

Wales and the industrialisation of much of the world. The complex is a rare 

survivor, that is exceptionally complete and has a listing status which 

recognises its value and significance to Welsh heritage and culture. It is in the 

care of the authority and the council has a responsibility and legal duty to 

look after it and make sure it survives for the benefit of future generations. 

22. Welsh Government through Cadw have recently invested £1.5 million in the 

careful repair and restoration of the two listed II* headframes. The 

restoration is of the highest standard and is indicative of the value that Welsh 

Government places on the site. The restoration reflects the government’s 

concern for the historic environment and its role in cultural tourism and 

wellbeing. The contract for the restoration was committed prior to Covid and 

at a time when NPTC had been awarded a £2.7 million grant towards the 

Masterplan for the site as a significant visitor attraction. Cadw prioritised its 

budget to the restoration of the headframes as a contribution towards the 

Tudalen48



13 | P a g e  
 

significant investment in the whole site by NPTC and others. Unfortunately, 

this has not materialised. Cadw have no proposals to interpret the 

headframes, as they see them as part of the museum to be interpreted with 

the museum. They were very positive about extending the period of the lease 

and would consider leasing more of the site for heritage and amenity use. 

23. Cefn Coed is one of a small group, from the hundreds of collieries in Wales, 

that survive as distinct monuments to the industry and are accessible today 

as museums. In all there are four museums in this group including Cefn Coed, 

Big Pit, Blaenavon, Monmouthshire, Rhondda Heritage Park, Trehafod, 

Rhondda Cynon, Taf and Bersham Colliery, Wrexham. Together they make a 

very important heritage group. Only at Big Pit can you go underground via 

the shaft, Cefn Coed offers a significant number of surviving structures and 

Rhondda has structures and a simulated underground experience. Big Pit is 

part of the National Museum of Wales, Cefn Coed  and Rhondda are managed 

by local authorities and while Bersham is owned by Wrexham County 

Borough Council it is managed by a trust, which opens the museum on special 

open days. Except for Cefn Coed the rest have developed with financial 

assistance from the National Lottery Heritage Fund. 

24. The three coal museums in south Wales are all located on the sites of former 

collieries, and all are of heritage significance. They all offer a different 

experience and have a key role as they are in different communities and 

provide for those communities, even though they are within an hour’s drive 

of each other. While they all have a role in national tourism, Big Pit is a 

national museum with an underground experience, located in a World 

Heritage Site, has received substantial capital funding and is relatively well 

revenue resourced. It is a key national heritage attraction with around 

150,000 visitors each year. Both Rhondda Heritage Park and Cefn Coed are 

local facilities attracting local and regional visitors. Rhondda Heritage Park 

attracts around 40,000 visitors each year. Their significance relates to 

identity and pride of place in community and heritage and hence well-being. 

As a local facility they have a key role to play in the implementation of the 

new curriculum in Wales.  While they do serve national audiences their focus 

is local audiences, and their interpretation should reflect their local role 

offering something different within the main story line of coal. Cefn Coed 

prior to closure was attracting around 10,000 visitors per annum. The 

difference in visitor numbers between the two relate to not only location and 

population size. To attract around 40,000 visitors per year and give them a 

meaningful service Rhondda employs appropriate staffing numbers and 

invests resources in the site. 

25. Several other museums in Wales have developed coal mining collections and 

some have large scale equipment. Kidwelly Industrial Museum has the 

Tudalen49



14 | P a g e  
 

Morlais Colliery, Llangennech headframe and winding engine, while the South 

Wales Miners Museum, an independent trust museum displays a relocated 

winding engine. However, they hold other collections and are not located on a 

former colliery site. 

 

  

Tudalen50



15 | P a g e  
 

The Museum and Collections 

26. The Accredited museum service, formally operated by NPTC, has been 

profoundly affected by the austerity measures that have been applied to local 

government over a sustained period. Budgets have been reduced and staffing 

levels have shrunk. One museum has permanently closed, opening hours 

have been reduced for the other. The latter, Cefn Coed, now remains closed 

post-Covid due to H&S issues stemming from a lack of building maintenance. 

The service has lost its Accreditation status and is struggling to meet public 

expectations for a modern museum service. There are currently two staff 

members, a Heritage Education Officer in the library and a Building Manager 

based in Cefn Coed. The Heritage Education Office also looks after important 

archaeological and community history collections which are in storage and as 

there is no museum display facility, these key collections are not available to 

the public. The important coal collections are at Cefn Coed, but no longer 

accessible as the museum is closed.  

27. It is useful for this report to identify and distinguish two collections. These 

are the coal industry collection and the archaeology and social history 

collection. Both are significant and should be on display to the community. 

The interpretive Plan recommended should also consider whether the 

archaeology and community history collections should be accommodated in 

the Cefn Coed Museum. This would place these important collections on 

display to their community and broaden the scope of the museum, providing 

more opportunity for a variety of learning experiences for schools and 

visitors as well as broadening the visitor base. 

28. Accreditation is a recognised UK wide standards system for museums. It is 

managed in Wales by the museum team in the Culture Division of Welsh 

Government. There are approximately 106 Accredited or working towards 

Accreditation museums in Wales of around 120 who meet the core criteria 

and definition of a museum. Accreditation brings a service not only status and 

recognition that it meets national standards but also gives access to 

additional funding streams and resources for museums. The current 

definition of a museum is “A museum is a not-for-profit, permanent 

institution in the service of society that researches, collects, conserves, 

interprets and exhibits tangible and intangible heritage. Open to the public, 

accessible and inclusive, museums foster diversity and sustainability. They 

operate and communicate ethically, professionally and with the participation 

of communities, offering varied experiences for education, enjoyment, 

reflection and knowledge sharing.”1 

                                                           
1 ICOM Conference August 2022 

Tudalen51



16 | P a g e  
 

29. Eighteen local authorities in Wales operate Accredited museum services, 

three do not operate or support museums, and one NPTC manages an 

unaccredited service. The authority needs to develop its museum into an 

Accredited service.  

30. At the present time Cefn Coed cannot re-open.  Even if it was possible to open 

safely, without any maintenance and upgrading and investment in displays 

and interpretation, the museum is not in a fit state to open to the public. The 

2009 the Knight Frank report commented; “It is clear from the site that there 

is a potential lack of funding given that there are a number of repairs and 

marketing initiatives which need to be carried out.” At the time the 

operational budget for Cefn Coed was £80,000. It is now £60,000. In the 

thirteen years since the report the budget and its purchasing power has 

declined by 25%, and the buildings have gone into a downward spiral of 

decay. The same is true of the displays which are no longer fit for purpose. 

The galleries and displays are old, dirty, cluttered, and show material that is 

irrelevant to the community’s heritage.  They could be seen as an 

embarrassment to the authority and should not be re-opened until there has 

been a major investment in buildings and interpretation. If more people were 

aware of the situation, the reputational damage that could be inflicted on the 

authority is considerable.  

31. If the authority follows this course of action and closes the site while plans 

are developed and finance is secured, there needs to be an interim plan for 

temporarily displaying and interpreting the collection, so that it can move 

towards Accreditation, meet the learning needs of schools and provide access 

to the community’s heritage. This could be achieved by utilising space in an 

existing building off site for exhibitions and learning opportunities.  

32. The operational budget for the museum service is currently around £100,000. 

While several councils do not operate any heritage services, for those that do, 

this is the lowest revenue spend by a county authority in Wales, operating 

museums. Ceredigion with a population of around 50% of that of NPTC 

spends £214,000 and Merthyr £234,430. Swansea City Council through 

Swansea Museum and the Glynn Vivian spend £1,108,499 on museum 

services. These figures are taken from the 2020 Spotlight on Museums data 

report and Welsh Government population statistics. On average local 

authorities in Wales spend around £221,000 on each museum they operate. 

33. Spotlight 2020 records that Rhondda Heritage Park was awarded the 

Sandford Award by the Heritage Education Trust in recognition of their 

outstanding education programme. The judges said “The activities, 

interpretation, and facilities at Rhondda Heritage Park: A Welsh Coal Mining 

Experience are of a very high quality. The learning team provides an 

Tudalen52



17 | P a g e  
 

outstanding learning experience that delivers both an in depth understanding 

of the science and history of the coal industry of the Rhondda Valley and a 

deeply moving insight into life underground and the wider social and political 

issues that affected the community. The learning programme also has the 

capacity to reinforce local children’s sense of their roles as global citizens and 

their community’s important contribution to the world.” 

34. Museums are services that not only contribute to the preservation of 

heritage, particularly portable heritage, but also to learning, economic 

growth, tourism, citizenship, the Welsh Language, community identity, a 

sense of place but also wellbeing and the goals of the programme for 

government. For a very small annual investment the returns for the 

community are substantial. In its present state Cefn Coed does not contribute 

to any of these goals. 

  

Tudalen53



18 | P a g e  
 

The Policy and Strategic Framework for Museums and Heritage 
 

35. It is important to understand the legislative, strategic and policy framework 

that museum and heritage services operate within. This framework enables 

authorities to provide and run services, meet organisational and government 

goals, and set targets and standards of delivery. Within the authority’s Local 

Development Plan 2011-2026 is the Historic Environment Supplementary 

Planning Guidance 2019, which gives an overview of the historic 

environment of Neath Port Talbot Council and outlines the planning policy 

protections that are in place to safeguard and conserve the historic assets of 

the County Borough. Statutory protection has been afforded to the most 

significant buildings and Structures such as Cefn Coed for many years 

through the scheduling of important ancient monuments and the listing of 

buildings of special architectural or historic interest. In addition, specific 

areas or neighbourhoods are designated as Conservation Areas, and Registers 

of Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic Landscapes have been compiled. 

36. Recently the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution, introduced 

the Historic Environment (Wales) Bill into the Senedd Cymru. This Bill — 

part of the Welsh Government’s programme to improve the accessibility of 

Welsh law — reorders and restates Wales’ historic environment law, so that 

it is contained in a single piece of legislation, is expressed in modern and 

understandable language and is fully bilingual. The current legislation 

protecting Cefn Coed will be enshrined in the Act. 

37. The Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (LDP) adopted in January 

2016 adds an additional local designation to these provisions by including a 

policy affording protection to 'Buildings of Local Importance. This allows 

buildings or structures that have architectural, historic, or local community 

significance (but have not met the criteria for formal listing or scheduling) to 

be identified and included on a local list for protection under local planning 

policy. The LDP supplementary guidance on the historic environment is there 

to protect the very buildings, listed at Cefn Coed, that the authority is failing 

to maintain.  

38. The LDP is a planning document but, is the only strategic document that 

refers to the authority’s heritage. It deals with protection but does not discuss 

the value of heritage in terms of current national strategies and policies such 

as wellbeing, a sense and pride of place, identity and diversity. This option 

appraisal should have been undertaken within the parameters of a heritage 

strategy for the authority. Within that strategy there should be a strategy for 

museums and portable heritage. Unfortunately, it does not exist. However, 

the new Corporate Plan includes and recognises that a review of leisure, 

Tudalen54

https://lnks.gd/l/eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9..Qwh7i8_nWKzfm0cyqQLvhplGiwy7oHHkqWPmo74YhTw/s/1186083472/br/141434757054-l


19 | P a g e  
 

tourism, heritage, and culture is a priority for NPTC. Consultants have been 

appointed to develop a new culture and heritage Strategy for NPTC. This 

references a heritage strategy which is supported with funding from the 

NLHF.  

39. The Heritage Strategy referred to is being developed through the 

Environment Directorate who obtained the funding for a Heritage Strategy 

Officer and Community Heritage Officer as part of a wider project. It is 

envisaged that the Heritage Strategy will ‘ensure the protection and 

sustainability of our built heritage, culture and historic environment for 

future generation [..] identify and categorise the buildings, monuments, 

landscapes, archaeological remains/physical features, their importance and 

value, and what can be done to protect them. [and] focus on the future 

enhancement of our historic and cultural heritage features in the County 

Borough’. While Cefn Coed Colliery falls into this strategy as part of the 

historic environment and is protected as a listed building, there is no 

reference to historic collections, artefacts, museum collections. The approach 

is not holistic and is concerned with the historic environment, not portable 

and intangible heritage. The authority should ensure that the Heritage 

Strategy extends beyond the historic environment and includes all aspects of 

heritage, particularly museums and collections.  

40. The authority needs financial assistance to maintain and develop its museum 

buildings, collections and services, but it needs to demonstrate to funders 

that it cares about museums and heritage. It needs to do this not only by 

having strategies and policies in place but by implementing those policies. If 

it wants to run a museum service, it should do it properly through investment 

and best practice. The authority should build a museum service that commits 

to meeting the Accreditation standards. By starting an investment 

programme with its own resources, it will be able to draw down funds from 

other sources and forge partnerships with other heritage providers.   

41. As a priority NPTC should start working towards Accreditation, through 

investment in staff and building maintenance, and policy development to 

provide a framework for future planning. It should discuss this with the 

Museums Team in the Culture Division at Welsh Government and make the 

first steps to becoming an Accredited museum again. 

42.  A museum strategy would include discussion about the scale and nature of 

the service, relevant to population size and distribution, geographical area 

and infrastructure. If the authority was to invest over a million pound in Cefn 

Coed to meet the authority’s obligations in terms of listed building legislation 

and its lease, then the site would be appropriate for an industrial museum 

focusing on coal extraction. The authority would then need to decide whether 

Tudalen55



20 | P a g e  
 

to base its museum service on the Cefn Coed site to display both its industrial 

heritage and the rest of its heritage collections. NPTC has a Roman and 

significant medieval heritage where should this be displayed – at Cefn Coed? 

43. Currently both NPTC and Cadw, who own the whole site, are apparently 

working independently on the same site. The authority needs to develop with 

Cadw a strategy for the whole site, but within an overarching holistic 

Heritage Strategy for the whole authority. 

44. We would recommend that for NPTC the priority is to start a maintenance 

programme to stop any further deterioration of the Cefn Coed buildings but 

does not start to develop any new museum facilities until there is a vision for 

heritage and museums across the whole authority. 

45. In addition to the Historic Environment Bill, Welsh Government has provided 

a framework of legislation and policy that museums and heritage sit within. 

Authorities should demonstrate through their service provision their 

contribution to these policy outcomes. The Well-being of Future Generations 

Act gives authorities the ambition, permission and legal obligation to improve 

social, cultural, environmental and economic well-being. The Act requires 

public bodies in Wales to work better with people, communities, and each 

other, and to prevent persistent problems such as poverty, health inequalities 

and climate change. The Act puts in place seven well-being goals and the 

listed public bodies must work to achieve all the goals, not just one or two. 

They are: a Prosperous Wales, a Resilient Wales, a More Equal Wales, a 

Healthier Wales, a Wales of Cohesive Communities, a Wales of Vibrant 

Culture & Thriving Welsh Language, a Globally Responsible Wales. A modern 

museum service can help authorities meet several of these goals. 

46. The Welsh Government’s “Programme for Government” includes specific 

references to museums as well as more generic statements that would 

include museums and heritage. The specific goals include; engage with the 

arts, culture and heritage sectors to develop a new culture strategy, invest in 

our theatres and museums, including establishing the Football Museum and 

the National Contemporary Art Gallery. 

47. This year Welsh Government is rolling out a new Curriculum for Wales to 

primary and secondary schools, focused on skills development and 

sophistication of understanding, creativity and a sense of belonging, rather 

than covering an ever-growing body of content. The museum education 

charity GEM has been funded to provide training and support to Welsh 

museums to create useful learning opportunities within the new structure. 

The curriculum is built around four purposes, creating: ambitious, capable 

young people able to learn throughout their lives; enterprising, creative 

contributors at work; ethical, informed citizens and healthy, confident 

Tudalen56

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-prosperous-wales/
http://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-resilient-wales/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-more-equal-wales/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-healthier-wales/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-wales-of-cohesive-communities/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-wales-of-vibrant-culture-and-thriving-welsh-language/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-wales-of-vibrant-culture-and-thriving-welsh-language/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/a-globally-responsible-wales/


21 | P a g e  
 

individuals. NPTC needs a museum service that can support the introduction 

of the new curriculum. 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Tudalen57



22 | P a g e  
 

3. Exploring the Brief 

SWOT 

48. The 2009 Knight Frank report outlined2 the options for the museum site and 

these have not charged significantly since then, other than there are now 

safety issues and the building and displays have deteriorated further. 

Currently the museum is not fit for purpose and the temporary closure will 

remain permanent until something is done. It cannot be re-opened in its 

present state. The 2019 Cefn Coed Masterplan3 stated: “Maintenance of the 

listed and other structures is an ongoing issue and cost. Some of the spaces 

e.g. the toilets and tearoom, appear dated and in need of refurbishment. Apart 

from the Underground Gallery, the interpretation on offer, particularly 

information boards, is dated and does not meet the changing expectations of 

visitors. Signage is poor and doesn’t provide a clear orientation of the site. 

There is a need for significant investment to create an engaging experience,”.  

49. Essentially both reports identified two main options for the site, which we 

agree with, but will add a third Option. Option A utilises the whole former 

colliery site including the museum buildings for non-heritage use, Option B 

used the site as a heritage facility, but with several sub options ranging from 

minimal investment and use through to injecting a large investment to create 

a major visitor destination and attraction. Option C would negotiate a 

favourable surrender of the lease and then remove the collections into store 

and let Cadw decide on the future of the site. 

50. Both reports looked a utilising the rest of the area owned by Welsh 

Government for housing, retail, and commercial development. This is Option 

A and includes possibly developing the listed buildings for non-heritage use. 

However not only are the buildings listed, but their internal structures are 

also listed. These are not empty structures that might easily convert to 

residential or office accommodation or even light industrial use. They do not 

have any non-heritage potential use. In the group of colliery buildings there 

are several small units which are used as toilets, café, shop or stores to 

support the museum facility, but are not substantial and are ancillary to the 

main buildings not stand-alone independent structures. There was 

consideration of the financial contribution these developments could possibly 

make to the capital and revenue operations of a developed museum on the 

site. This of course would require a completely new lease and private/public 

investment and is not considered in this option appraisal. Any changes to the 

lease for museum purposes would relate to Option B, the inclusion of the 

                                                           
2 Future Use Options Report, Cefn Coed Museum for Neath Port Talbot CBC, March 2009 
3 Cefn Coed Masterplan, Enhancing the Visitor Experience 2019, Planning Solutions Consulting Limited 

Tudalen58



23 | P a g e  
 

headframes in the interpretation and a review of landscaping and parking to 

improve the immediate museum environment and access. 

 

47. Option A. Alternative Commercial use of the Site and Buildings. 

Strengths  Weaknesses  
 
• Iconic restored headgear and 
chimney stack which are 
landmark features helping to 
create a WOW factor  
 
• Established heritage attraction 
on known site  
 
• Accessible to M4 and A465 
Heads of the Valleys  
 
• Council and community 

support for investment  
 

• Relatively large areas of land 
are available which could be 
developed for both museum 
and other use  

 

 
•  Listed status of main building would 
restrict some future uses/ alterations  
 
• Would require a new lease with 
substantial financial implications 
  
• Would require substantial investment 
or a third party to develop the site 
 
 The council still has all the historic 

buildngs 
 
• In the present circumstances is there a 
market for new housing or light 
industry? 
 
• The repairing lease requires 

substantial funding 
• Additional funding is required for the 

museum buildings and interpretation 
• The museum service is not 

Accredited and is not eligible for 
lottery and other significant funding 

 
Opportunities  Threats  
 
• partial development of the site 
could provide income to 
develop the heritage and 
museum facilities  
 

 
• Inability to secure investment and 
development  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen59



24 | P a g e  
 

48. Option B Developing a Museum Heritage Facility 

Strengths  Weaknesses  
 
• Iconic restored headframes and 
chimney stack, landmark features, 
create a strong visual presence  
 
• Established heritage attraction 
located in a significant heritage site 
with high level listed building status  
 
• Good track record of hosting large-
scale events  
 

• Accessible to M4 and A465 
Heads of the Valleys  
 
• Council and community 

support for investment  
 

• Relatively large areas of land 
are available which could be 
developed for both museum 
and other use 

 
• Significant coal collections as 

well as archaeology and 
community heritage 
collections  

 
• Other heritage attractions 

nearby and located in, historic 
landscape and accessible 
attractive landscape with the 
Brecon Beacons National Park 
close by 

 
• The community sees a return 

on the maintenance spend of 
£1,000,000 

 

 
• Not located in an established tourist 
destination  
 
• Dated visitor experience in poorly 
maintained buildings in need of substantial 
investment in buildings and interpretation  
 
• Lack of online presence  
 

• The repairing lease requires 
substantial funding 
• Additional funding is required for the 

museum buildings and interpretation 
•  

• The museum service is not Accredited 
and is not eligible for lottery and other 
significant funding 
 

• Located away from population centres 
 

Opportunities  Threats  
 
• Significant parts of the ‘collection’ 
held by the Council are in storage 
(10,000 items) and could now be 
displayed 
 

 
• Unable to secure funding and political 
support for maintenance and investment in 
new enhanced offer  

• Potential lose of key historical elements of 
time and place 

Tudalen60



25 | P a g e  
 

• The museum is eligible for 
Accreditation, which raises 
standards and gives access to 
funding 

 
• Allows for a phased development     
as funding becomes available 
 

• Allows for a future vision 
articulated in the Masterplan, 
which sees the museum as a 
destination and gateway to the 
heritage and natural attractions of 
the area 

• Meets the requirements of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations 
Act and the current Programme 
for Government 

• Removal of the model railway 
facility to a new on-site location 

 

 

 

49. Option C Negotiate a Favourable Surrender of the Lease 

Strengths  Weaknesses  
 
• Removes direct responsibility from 
the council for the operation of the 
site  
 
• Removes any ongoing revenue 
implications other than repayments 
and interest on any borrowing   
 
 

 
• Welsh Government may require full 
repayment estimated at around £1,000,000  
 
• Potential for substantial reputational 
damage for NPTC 
 
• £1,000,000 is a substantial amount of 
money with nothing to show for the 
investment 
 
• The coal collections will need to go into 

store and at some stage a new museum 
site will need to be identified and 
developed 

 

Opportunities  Threats  
 
• A new site for the county’s 
collection in a more central location 
could be identified  
 
 

 
• The listed buildings are restored but not 
accessible and threatened by neglect and 
vandalism. There is very negative reaction 
from the community, pressure groups and 
the media 

Tudalen61



26 | P a g e  
 

 

50. If the authority chooses Option C, it needs to start discussions with Cadw 

regarding the work that needs to be carried out to meet the authority’s 

obligations in terms of both the legislation and the lease. This work needs to 

be carried out in the short term to secure the building from further decay. If 

the work is not carried out soon the costs will increase dramatically. At a time 

when the authority is developing its own Heritage Strategy, this would be 

unfortunate. The condition reports and costings carried out in December 

2020 give an indicative cost of just under £1,000,000 to carry out the 

necessary work to the structures. Building costs have risen dramatically since 

2020 and the final figure will exceed this amount.  

51. Once the work has been carried out the authority could surrender their lease 

to Welsh Government (Cadw) and hand the buildings and surrounding land 

back. This option of course does not solve the problem. It merely passes it on 

to another tier of government and the public purse. The site is still of 

significant heritage value to the community and to the nation. Cadw have 

already invested nearly £1.5 million in the site restoring the headframes on 

the basis that the authority was going to carry out a major investment 

through the creation of a heritage attraction. This action would be a PR 

disaster and cause NPTC major reputational damage.  

52. Option C is not recommended as there are still substantial financial 

implications which may not actually solve the issue for the authority. 

53. The group of listed colliery buildings does not have any alternative use. This 

was recognised in the 2009 Knight Frank Report, which concluded that the 

best use for the buildings was as a museum. They also concluded that there 

was the potential to develop the non- museum parts of the site, but additional 

land was required for parking, events and interpretation of the headframes. 

We agree and while the authority may wish to explore a small part of the site 

for residential or other use, the majority of the site should be for museum and 

associated attraction use. 

54. Option A is not recommended, as there is not any real alternative use for the 

site. 

55. Option B is the recommended option. This involves a phased development of 

the site. The first action is to professionally remove the museum collections 

to storage and require the various societies involved to remove all their 

material off site. This need to be done immediately, so that urgent repairs and 

maintenance can be undertaken, to prevent any further deterioration of the 

fabric of the buildings. This will allow time for an integrated set of plans and 

priorities for the site to be developed. The authority could also engage with 

Tudalen62



27 | P a g e  
 

Cadw to examine options for extending the lease and also leasing the whole 

site. Cadw have already invested £1.5 million in the site so financial 

assistance may be a possibility. In the short term the buildings might be 

opened following repair, but this might be on a site only basis with minimal 

interpretation and no collections on display or ancillary activities, such as a 

café. The concept would be a phased move towards using the majority of the 

site as per the Masterplan to create an attraction and destination focused on 

the museum, but also as a gateway to the surrounding area for recreation, 

wellbeing and learning. There would be a substantially lower level of 

investment and the museum and supporting buildings would be improved to 

form a museum and visitor attraction. Further attractions could be added to 

the site over time as financial opportunities arose. 

 

Finances 

56. In December 2020 inspections and surveys were carried out to assess the 

condition of the buildings and the maintenance requirements. Tourism and 

visitors. Indicative costings were also supplied. The reports are obviously 

technical and are reported here on a factual not interpretive basis. The main 

consultants were Faithful and Gould and published their report4 including 

other reports as appendices in January 2021. The executive Summary is 

included below for information.  

57. “Faithful+Gould were instructed by Neath Port Talbot County Borough 

Council (The Council) to undertake a due diligence exercise to establish the 

viability of the Museum’s regeneration scheme, taking into account the 

available funding, and any known and anticipated constraints, risks and 

liabilities. This is to include any matters associated with the Council’s 

responsibility for repairs and maintenance on the site, as well as any 

reimbursement due to the Welsh Assembly Government upon termination of 

its lease. The due diligence exercise is to include a review of all building and 

external assets within the Council’s demise associated with the current lease. 

As part of this review, Faithful+Gould undertook a full condition survey 

including a planned, preventative maintenance (PPM) schedule of these 

assets. The purpose of this Condition Survey is to record the current 

condition of the visible, accessible building fabric for the relevant parts of the 

premises. The Schedule of Condition may also be attached to the future lease 

for the premises and is to be used to guide the standard of repair required at 

the end of the lease. During our inspection an asbestos and structural survey 

of the site was also undertaken. The asbestos survey was undertaken by 

                                                           
4 Cefn Coed Colliery Museum, Condition Survey, Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council, Faithful & Gould, 
Members of the SNC Lavalin Group 21st January 2021 

Tudalen63



28 | P a g e  
 

Tetra Tech and the structural survey was undertaken by CB3 Consult Ltd. 

Independently from the structural survey undertaken by CB3, a visual 

structural survey ofthe Engine and Winch House’s basement and undercroft 

was undertaken by Tetra Tech. These reports can be found within the 

appendices of this report. The buildings on the Council leased site comprise 

industrial buildings of the former colliery. These are listed as the following: 

  Block A – Engine and Winch House 

Block B – Boiler & Pump House 

Block C – Classroom 

Block D – Shops & Toilets 

Block E – Site 

Many of the structures which stand on the the Council leased site are Listed 

Structures and some are graded 2*. Faithful+Gould undertook a full 

condition survey which includes a written description, as well as a planned, 

preventative maintenance (PPM) schedule of the above assets. The survey 

was carried out on Wednesday 9th and Thursday 10th December by Gary 

Adams and Joe Morris of Faithful+Gould in Neath. The site also comprises a 

chimney stack, a culvert; an experience tunnel, subway (under A4109), and 

large retaining wall, which were all assessed as part of the structural 

assessment appended to this report. This assessment contains 

recommendations for any removal, strengthening measures and / or repair 

work required. Due to the complexities of these recommendations, any cost 

allowances within the planned, preventative maintenance (PPM) schedule 

applied to these works must be treated as indicative only.” 

 

58. The report also included indicative costs for carrying out the planned 

predicative maintenance schedule identified in the reports.  

Year 1 
backlog 

Years 1-4 Years 5-
10 

Years 11-
50 

Total 

£138,240 
 

£636,750 £83,793 £336,054 £1.194,838 

 

59. The above figures relate to the surrender of the lease. In the short term 

should the authority accept Option B and retain and develop the site the 

authority would need to spend around £858,783 on planned preventive 

maintenance, over a shorter period. The site needs to be re-opened in order 

not to appear to be a building site for a decade. 

60. The Architectural Report5 on the Engine House looked at converting the 

building into a visitor centre, while retaining the listed contents. The centre 

                                                           
5 Cefn Coed Colliery Museum, Initial Architectural Report 3 December 2020, DB3 Architecture 

Tudalen64



29 | P a g e  
 

would include not only the displays but also the operations such as shop, café 

and learning space carried out in the varied ancillary buildings on the site. 

The concept included a new build extension for the café and small 

adaptations to the building. This needs to be put on hold while an 

interpretative plan and vision for the whole site is developed. The report 

does not include any indicative costs. 

61. The table of costs below is taken from the Masterplan published in February 

2019. The total expenditure was estimated at £5,273,100 and the grant 

offered was £2,700,000. 

62.  

Tudalen65



30 | P a g e  
 

63. We have extracted from the above table the estimated costs associated with 

the interpretation of the heritage buildings and the new road, landscaping, 

and car park. The total with professional fees at 15% is around £2,000,000 at 

2019 costs. The footnote to the table of costs states that the figures exclude 

any investment in the fabric of the heritage building and the issues with the 

underpass. The largest cost element is the proposed new road and car park 

which is on land that currently does not form part of the lease.  

64. The key question is how the authority would finance the necessary repairs to 

the building and associated improvements to both buildings and 

interpretation to provide a viable museum service. This would focus on the 

buildings currently leased to the council with financial responsibility for the 

rest of the site remaining with Welsh Government through Cadw. In the 

current climate NPT would require substantial grant assistance to finance 

any project. Welsh Government through its Culture Division provides a 

capital grant scheme of up to £300,000 for Accredited museums. The main 

source of substantial capital funding for Accredited museums is the National 

Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF). In recent years the NLHF has provided 

substantial capital grants to Brecon, Swansea, Penmaenmawr, Bangor and 

Holywell. The partnership funding for heritage lottery funded projects has 

come from a variety of trusts, smaller grant programmes and other 

departments of Welsh Government. The Federation of Museums and Art 

Galleries of Wales with the support of the Culture Division of Welsh 

Government  has funded Accredited museums to undertake a range of 

policies and strategies, including interpretative plans, feasibility studies and 

access strategies, that assist museums in applying for capital grants. 

Tourism and Visitors 

 

65. The Masterplan calculated an increase in visitors from the average annual 

numbers visiting of 8432 to 37,870 after 5 years. This was based on a 

substantial investment offering more onsite attractions and developing the 

site as a gateway to the Valleys. It was calculated in the context of a growing 

tourism market in Wales and the population figure within an hour’s drive 

time from Cefn Coed. The figures were realistic and compared with Rhondda 

Heritage Park which operates with between 40,000 and 50,000 visitors, were 

achievable. As just a museum site, with retail and catering, linking to other 

facilities and walks in the area, the figure of 37,870 would appear to be 

optimistic. However, in the context of growing local tourism market, the 

requirements of the new curriculum, an event strategy and a dynamic 

engaging Accredited museum service a visitor base of between 25,000 and 

30,000 is achievable. 

Tudalen66



31 | P a g e  
 

Business Planning & Volunteers 
 

66. Again, this was explored in the Masterplan, which concluded that although 

there would be income streams from retail, catering, and attractions there 

would still need to be a financial input from the authority. All of the 19 local 

authority museum services in Wales generate income streams, but all require 

additional funding to operate. They are a public service and in the context of 

community wellbeing, identity and belonging, the aspirations of the 

government’s “Programme for Government”, life-long learning, the new 

curriculum for Wales and economic development through tourism are a vital 

service offered by any authority. 

67. The current revenue spend per year on the service is around £100,000 which 

should be increased to around £220,000 to be in line with what other 

authorities spend. This will allow for the employment of a professional 

museum officer and demonstrate that the authority values its museum 

service. It will assist in the move towards an Accredited service, which in turn 

will assist the service in obtaining grants. As the service develops, so will 

income streams from trading services and grants.  

68. The data collecting exercise Spotlight 2020 asked museums to supply 

information about their workforce. The figures indicated that the museum 

workforce has increased due to growth of the volunteer base. This is not only 

in terms of the number of people involved but also the hours they 

contributed. 4235 volunteers form 72% of the workforce, up from 66% in 

Spotlight 2015. 404,676 hours were contributed by volunteers in 2020 a 

considerable increase from 177,815 hours in 2015. It is important therefore, 

that a revitalised museum develops a volunteer strategy and a large 

volunteer base. This would be in addition to a Friends organisation that acts 

as an advocacy and fund-raising organisations. Any volunteers do not need to 

be members of the Friends. Volunteers can assist museum staff in a range of 

activities to provide additional capacity across the whole range of museum 

activities and operations. They must be organised and managed by 

permanent staff and receive appropriate training. 

Funding Sources 
 

69. The main funding sources for Accredited museums in Wales are the National 

lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) and Welsh Government through Cadw, Visit 

Wales, and the Museums Team in the Culture Division. The Federation of 

Museums and Galleries in Wales also provides grants with grant schemes 

funded from various organisations and trusts. NHLF will fund Accredited 

Tudalen67



32 | P a g e  
 

museums and is funding the NPTC’s Heritage Strategy and associated 

projects. NPTC is seen as a priority area for grant spend by NLHF in Wales. 

70. Cadw will sometimes fund repairs to listed buildings and this should be part 

of discussions with them. 

 

  

Tudalen68



33 | P a g e  
 

4. Recommendations 
The primary recommendations coming out of the study are: 

We recommend that the authority: 

 Retain the Cefn Coed Museum complex and carry out an extensive maintenance 

programme to meet the requirements of the lease and to prevent any further 

deterioration of the buildings on the site. The planned predictive maintenance 

schedule must be put in place. 

 Commission a development and interpretative plan to start the process of taking 

the museum forward into a new era, that compliments, enhances and expands 

the present institution, so it can provide the facilities and programmes that the 

public and schools now expect from a museum. The plan will underpin the 

Heritage Strategy being developed for the authority, which sees Cefn Coed as a 

key site.  

 The interpretative plan needs to include more than the history of coal in the 

county. It should also look at other historic industries once active in the area.  It 

should also examine the environmental and social impact of these industries. 

The plan needs to relate the story of coal to current issues including climate 

crisis, energy costs and the role of renewable sustainable energy. The plan will 

support learners to make progress, which is a fundamental driver for the new 

curriculum in Wales. 

 The Heritage Strategy should extend beyond the historic environment and 

include all aspects of heritage, particularly referencing museums and collections. 

 The museum should remain closed for the foreseeable future and the collections 

should be professionally removed in the short term and stored pending the 

interpretative plan and then its implementation and development. 

 The authority should invest in the service, providing more revenue resources, so 

that it can move towards to becoming an Accredited service capable of attracting 

additional capital resources. It should employ a museum officer to move the 

service towards Accreditation and the development of the new museum. 

 The authority should discuss the lease, redefining the leased area to include at 

least access to the headframes, grant aid towards repairs to the historic fabric of 

the listed structures and the long-term management of the area with Cadw.  

 The model railway would be incompatible with the new proposals and should 

not form part of the Interpretative Plan or be incorporated into any of the 

existing buildings. The authority should make alternative provision for it on the 

site.  

 

  

Tudalen69



34 | P a g e  
 

Selected Bibliography 
Documents consulted to date 

Various Lease Agreements 

Future Use Options Report, Cefn Coed Museum for Neath Port Talbot CBC, March 2009 

 

Cefn Coed Masterplan, Enhancing the Visitor Experience 2019, Planning Solutions 

Consulting Limited 

 

Cefn Coed Colliery Museum, Condition Survey, Neath Port Talbot County Borough 

Council, Faithful & Gould, Members of the SNC Lavalin Group 21st January 2021 

 

CB3 Structural Report December 2020 

Cefn Coed Colliery Museum, Initial Architectural Report 3 December 2020, DB3 

Architecture 

 
A Museum Strategy for Wales Welsh Government 2010  
https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-
libraries/museums/strategy/?lang=en 
 
Expert Review of Local Museum Provision in Wales 2015  
https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-
libraries/museums/review/?lang=en 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-
act/?lang=en 
 
Museum Accreditation.  
https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-
libraries/museums/accreditation/?lang=en 
 
 
New Curriculum for Wales 
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales 
 
https://gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales 
 
https://gem.org.uk/gem-cymru-the-new-curriculum-for-wales/ 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen70

https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-libraries/museums/review/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-libraries/museums/review/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-libraries/museums/accreditation/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/culture-tourism-sport/museums-archives-libraries/museums/accreditation/?lang=en
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales
https://gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales
https://gem.org.uk/gem-cymru-the-new-curriculum-for-wales/


1 

 

Impact Assessment - First Stage 
 

It is essential that all initiatives undergo a first stage impact assessment to identify relevance to equalities and the Welsh language 
as well as an evaluation of how the proposal has taken into account the sustainable development principle (the five ways of 
working); an incorrect assessment could ultimately be open to legal challenge. 

The first stage is to carry out a short assessment to help determine the need to undertake a more in-depth analysis (the second 
stage).    
 
Relevance will depend not only on the number of people/service users affected, but also the significance of the effect on them. 
 
When completing the first step you must have regard to the following:  

 Does the initiative relate to an area where important equality issues have been, or are likely to be, raised? (For example, 
funding for services to assist people who are victims of rape/sexual violence or individuals with particular care need; disabled 
people's access to public transport; the gender pay gap; racist or homophobic bullying in schools) 

 Is there a significant potential for reducing inequalities, or improving outcomes? (For example, increasing recruitment 
opportunities for disabled people).  

 Does the initiative relate to instances where opportunities to use the Welsh language are likely to be affected or where the 
language is likely to be treated less favourably? (For example, increase the number of Welsh speakers moving from/to a 
certain area; closing specific Welsh language services or put those services at risk services;   

 Does the initiative relate to the improvement of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being? To what extent 
does the initiative prevent things getting worse? (For example, funding for services to assist in cultural well-being;  changes 
in polices that promote independence and/or assist carers) 

1.  Provide a description and summary of the initiative.  
 Identify which service area and directorate has responsibility for the initiative. 
   
2.  Identify who will be affected by the initiative.  
 If you answer Yes to service users, staff or wider community continue with the first stage of the assessment   
 If you answer No to service users, staff or wider community or Yes to ‘Internal administrative process only’, go to Question 5 – 

sustainable development principle.   
  
3. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available to you think about what impact there could be on people who 

share protected characteristics; whether they are service users, staff or the wider community. 

T
udalen71



2 

 

 
Some things to consider include:  

 transport issues  

 accessibility  

  customer service 

  cultural sensitivity 

 financial implications   

  loss of jobs    
 

Definitions of impacts (either positive or negative):  

 High – likely to be highly affected by the initiative   

 Medium - likely to be affected in some way  

 Low - likely to be affected by the initiative in a small way 

 Don’t know - the potential impact is unknown 
 
You must provide reasons, and indicate what evidence you used, in coming to your decision.  
 

4.  Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available, think about what impact there could be on opportunities to 
use the Welsh language and in treating the language no less favourably than English.  

 Definitions of impacts are the same as in Question 3. 

The classification ‘Don’t Know’ should be categorised as ‘High Impact’ in both questions 3 & 4. 
  

5. Consider how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle in accordance with the Section 7c of the Well-
being of Future Generations Act 2015. 

 
 Give details of the initiative in relation to the 5 ways of working: 

 Long term - how the initiative supports the long term well-being of people  

 Integration -  how the initiative impacts upon our wellbeing objectives  

 Involvement -  how people have been involved in developing the initiative  

 Collaboration - how we have worked with other services/organisations to find shared sustainable solutions;  

 Prevention -  how the initiative will prevent problems occurring or getting worse  

T
udalen72



3 

 

 
6. The most appropriate statement must be selected (and the relevant box ticked) based on the first stage of the assessment and an 

explanation of how you have arrived at this decision must be given.  
 
In addition a summary of the how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle must also be included.  
 

 Where the first stage of the assessment indicates that a more in-depth analysis is required the second stage of the assessment will 
need to be completed and this will need to be started immediately.  

 
 A first stage assessment must be included as a background paper for all Cabinet/Cabinet Board/ Scrutiny Committee Reports. 
 
 Where the first stage assessment is completed by an accountable manager it must be signed off by a Head of Service/Director.  

 
 
 
  
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

T
udalen73



4 

 

Impact Assessment - First Stage  
 
1. Details of the initiative  
  

Initiative description and summary: Cefn Coed Colliery Museum Report: Options for Future Development 

Service Area: Museum Service 

Directorate: Education 

 
2. Does the initiative affect:   
 

 Yes No 

Service users   

Staff   

Wider community   

Internal administrative process only    

 
3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their:  
 

 Yes  No None/ 
Negligible 

Don’t 
Know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact? 

Age      L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Disability      L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Gender Reassignment     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Marriage/Civil Partnership     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Pregnancy/Maternity     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

T
udalen74



5 

 

Race     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Religion/Belief     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Sex     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

Sexual orientation     L There are no negative impacts for this protected 
characteristic.  

 

 

 

4. Does the initiative impact on: 

 

 Yes  No None/ 

Negligible 

Don’t 
know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact? 

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language  

    L There is no impact on opportunities to use Welsh.  

Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English  

    L  

 

 

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity: 

 Yes  No None/ 
Negligible 

Don’t 
know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) /  
How might it impact? 

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity  

   
 L 

There are no biodiversity impacts associated with this report.  

T
udalen75



6 

 

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 
such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc.  

   

 L 

 

 

 

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working): 

 Yes  No Details 

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people  

  The report addresses a longer term plan for Cefn Coed. 

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives  

  Providing a sustainable Museum service will ensure the well-being 
principles of both adults and children    

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative  

  The report has consulted with internal and external stakeholders.    

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions 

  A working party made up of staff from other department have been 
involved in the production of this report.  

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse  

  The report has stated a list of key recommendations that will seek to 
prevent any problems getting worse.    

T
udalen76



7 

 

 

 

 

 

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate): 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required   

Reasons for this conclusion    

The report will seek to address the long term future of Cefn Coed museum with a series of recommendations which will, subject 
to funding, lead to the improvements and sustainability of the museum. There are no negative impacts associated with the report.  

 

 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required   

Reasons for this conclusion    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Name Position Signature Date 

Completed by Paul Walker Operations Coordinator   November 7th 2022 

Signed off by  Andrew Thomas Head of Service/Director    

T
udalen77



8 

 

 

T
udalen78



 

   

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EDUCATION SKILLS AND WELLBEING CABINET BOARD 
   

24th November 2022 
 

Rhiannon Crowhurst 
   Head of Support Services and Transformation   

 

Matter for: Decision 

Wards Affected: All 

Creation of a Regional Partnership for Sport and Physical activity in 
West Wales 

1. Purpose of the Report  

The purpose of this paper is to request approval for Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council to support the further development and creation 
of a new Regional Partnership for Sport and Physical Activity in West 
Wales. 

2. Executive Summary 

The context behind the formation of a Regional Partnership for Sport and 
Physical Activity is the national Vision for Sport in Wales 
(https://visionforsport.wales/) and also the Sport Wales Strategy which 
envisages a Wales where everyone is Active 
(https://www.sport.wales/sport-wales-strategy/). 

3. Background  

Aligned to Welsh Government policy and the Vision for Sport in Wales, 
Sports Partnerships will be the entity through which all local investment 
from Sport Wales will be coordinated. Empowered to bring about system 
change, they will be the catalyst to tackling two long standing issues  

Tudalen79

Eitem yr Agenda9



 

   

I. Ensuring there is the right support and opportunities in place for                
those who are not regularly physically active - with a clear focus on 
removing barriers for those who need most help   

II. Taking steps to meet the high latent demand from those who are 
active but want to do much more 

What do we mean by Sport Partnerships. 

With the ethos of true collaboration at the heart of this approach, a Sport 
Partnership will bring together key stakeholders within a defined region 
who understand the importance and have a focus on delivering the 
benefits of sport and physical activity.  

The Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred in its 
approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, and commissioning at 
a regional level, with a common purpose delivered at a local level 
ensuring that everyone has equal access to sport and physical activity 
through a range of opportunities that best meet their needs.  

Key stakeholders within a region will be empowered to determine how a 
Sport Partnership evolves, it’s purpose and how best it should be 
structured to meet the needs of local communities. 

The regional organisations are: 

Swansea City FC 

Carmarthenshire County Council  

Scarlets Regional Rugby 

Neath Port Talbot County Council  

Ospreys Regional Rugby 

Pembrokeshire County Council  

Swansea University 

City and County of Swansea  

University of Wales Trinity St David 

Tudalen80



 

   

This collaborative approach reflects the fact that no one organisation can 
achieve this ambition on its own, recognising that it is vital to work in 
partnership with communities and other public sector, private sector and 
third sector organisations to make the improvements happen. 

Progress to Date 

A West Wales Project Group was formed in the autumn of 2021 to 
respond to the new vision for regional working and to progress thinking on 
the structure and purpose of a Regional Partnership for Sport and 
Physical activity in West Wales. The Project Group has been through 
several important developmental stages, which are beginning to shape 
the regional partnership. In summary the Project Group has: 

Explored the benefits of a collaborative approach and aligned behaviours 
with the concept of regional working 

• Shared organisational expertise and insight across the region 

• Developed a draft Vision and a strategic outcomes framework to 
support direction of travel 

• Undertaken an Options Appraisal of the appropriate governance 
models that might support the regional partnership 

• Reached consensus on the preferred governance model for West 
Wales i.e., the formation of a new company limited by guarantee (with an 
option to explore charitable status)  

Once operational it is expected that the West Wales Regional Partnership 
for Sport and Physical Activity will be firmly established as an effective 
and robust regional body. It will be seen and recognised as providing 
clear leadership, insight, as well as generating increased resource to 
effectively encourage and support those delivering sport and physical 
activity across the region. The partnership will add value and drive 
change in its approach to community commissioning and delivery, 
resulting in benefits to all communities across West Wales.  

Tudalen81



 

   

Governance and Legal Framework 

The West Wales Project Group have undertaken an Options Appraisal of 
the governance models that might be best suited to support a Regional 
Partnership for sport and physical activity. The preferred model is to 
establish a company limited by guarantee (with the potential to adopt a 
charitable status in due course). 

The West Wales Project Group are in the process of preparing a final 
business case, for submission to Sport Wales and Welsh Government, in 
relation to the creation of a Partnership which will receive funding directly 
from Sport Wales for expenditure on sport and leisure activities and 
projects across West Wales. 

The Transition toward a Regional Partnership for Sport and Physical 
Activity in West Wales    

Over the coming months, partner organisations will collectively develop a 
business case inclusive of transitional arrangements to support the 
creation of a Regional Partnership for Sport and Physical Activity. The 
business case will be informed by existing arrangements with the four 
individual Local Authorities and other partner interests across the region.  

Timeline and Approval Process  

The full business case for the creation of a Regional Partnership for Sport 
and Physical activity will be presented to the partner organisations in 
West Wales for final approval in January 2023. 

The agreed business case will then be submitted to Sport Wales for final 
approval by Sport Wales at the end of February 2023. 

Subject to partner/Sport Wales approval, it is anticipated that the 
Regional Partnership for Sport and Physical activity in West Wales could 
be operational from 01st April 2023. 

4. Financial Impact  

To secure the annual grant for the Active Young People and free 
swimming the council will need to support and be part of the new sports 
partnership. 

Tudalen82



 

   

5. Integrated Impact Assessment  

A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken and is appended 
as (Appendix 4) to assist the Council in discharging its legislative duties 
(under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

The first stage assessment has indicated that a more in-depth 
assessment is not required.   

6. Valleys Communities Impacts 

There is no direct overall impact on any valley community as a result of 
this proposal.  

7. Workforce Impacts 

At this stage there are no direct impacts on Council staff. 

8. Legal Impacts 

At this stage there are no legal implications.  

9. Risk Management 

Failure to ensure a budget could affect the delivery of the Active Young 
People Programme.  

10. Consultation 

There is no requirement for external consultation on this report  

11. Recommendations  

Recommendation 1.  

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council supports the further 
development and creation of a new Regional Partnership for Sport and 
Physical Activity in West Wales. 

Tudalen83



 

   

12. Reasons for Proposed Decision  

To continue working in Partnership with Sport Wales and secure funding 
for the Active Young People Programme. Ensuring there is the right 
support and opportunities in place for those who are not regularly 
physically active - with a clear focus on removing barriers for those who 
need most help.   

13. Implementation of Decision 

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period.   

14. Appendices 

Appendix 1 Impact Assessment - First Stage 

15. List Background Papers of  

None 

Officer Contact 

Paul Walker Operations Coordinator. p.walker@npt.gov.uk 07899923478 

Tudalen84

mailto:p.walker@npt.gov.uk


1 

 

Appendix 1 
Impact Assessment - First Stage  

 
1. Details of the initiative  
  

Initiative description and summary: Creation of a Regional Partnership for Sport and Physical activity in 
West Wales. 

Service Area:   Support Services and Transformation. 

Directorate: Education, Leisure and Lifelong Learning. 

 
2. Does the initiative affect:   
 

 Yes No 

Service users    

Staff √  

Wider community    

Internal administrative process only     

 
3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their:  
 

 Yes  No None/ 
Negligible 

Don’t 
Know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact? 

Age        The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 

T
udalen85



2 

 

has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Disability        The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Gender Reassignment       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Marriage/Civil Partnership       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Pregnancy/Maternity       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Race       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 

T
udalen86



3 

 

has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Religion/Belief       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Sex       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

Sexual orientation       The protected characteristic will not be affected. The 
Partnership will be led by insight and be person centred 
in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common 
purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone 
has equal access to sport and physical activity through a 
range of opportunities that best meet their needs. 

 

4. Does the initiative impact on: 

 

 Yes  No None/ 

Negligible 

Don’t 
know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact? 

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language  

      The proposal has no impact on the ability to restrict people’s 
opportunities to use the Welsh language as the service 
specification will not be changing.  

T
udalen87



4 

 

Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English  

      At no time will the Council or the Partnership be treating the 
Welsh language no less favourable than English. 

 

 

 

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity: 

 Yes  No None/ 
Negligible 

Don’t 
know 

Impact 
H/M/L 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) /  
How might it impact? 

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity  

    
  There will no impact on the ability to maintain and enhance 

biodiversity.      

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 
such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc.  

    

  

There will no impact on the ability to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity.  

 

 

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working): 

 Yes  No Details 

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people  

   The new delivery model will ensure that residents of Neath Port Talbot 
continue to have the opportunity to participate in physical activity, and 
access to high quality leisure facilities.  The Partnership will be led by 
insight and be person centred in its approach, providing strategic 

T
udalen88



5 

 

leadership, planning, and commissioning at a regional level, with a 
common purpose delivered at a local level ensuring that everyone has 
equal access to sport and physical activity through a range of opportunities 
that best meet their needs. 

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives  

   Well-being Objective 1 - To improve the well-being of children and young 
people - . “All of our children and young people have the best start in life, 
so they can be the best they can be” This proposal will ensure   
residents of Neath Port Talbot continue to have the opportunity to 
participate in physical activity   

• Well-being Objective 2 - To improve the well-being of all adults who live in 
the county borough -  “Everyone participates fully in community life – 
socially and economically”  This proposal will ensure   residents of 
Neath Port Talbot continue to have the opportunity to participate in 
physical activity   

• Well-being Objective Aim 3 - To develop the local economy and 
environment so that the well-being of people can be improved, and all 
communities are thriving and sustainable. This proposal will ensure local 
jobs, generating income for the local economy. 

“The whole of Neath Port Talbot county borough will be a vibrant and 
healthy place to live, work and enjoy recreational time”  This proposal will 
ensure   residents of Neath Port Talbot continue to have the 
opportunity to participate in physical activity   

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative  

  
 

Key stakeholders within a region will be empowered to determine how a 
Sport Partnership evolves, it’s purpose and how best it should be 
structured to meet the needs of local communities. 

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions 

  
 

Key stakeholders within a region will be empowered to determine how a 
Sport Partnership evolves, it’s purpose and how best it should be 
structured to meet the needs of local communities. 

The regional organisations are: 

Swansea City FC 

T
udalen89



6 

 

 

 

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate): 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required  √ 

Reasons for this conclusion    

Carmarthenshire County Council  

Scarlets Regional Rugby 

Neath Port Talbot County Council  

Ospreys Regional Rugby 

Pembrokeshire County Council  

Swansea University 

City and County of Swansea  

University of Wales Trinity St David 

This collaborative approach reflects the fact that no one organisation can 
achieve this ambition on its own, recognising that it is vital to work in 
partnership with communities and other public sector, private sector and 
third sector organisations to make the improvements happen. 

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse  

  
 With the ethos of true collaboration at the heart of this approach, a Sport 

Partnership will bring together key stakeholders within a defined region 
who understand the importance and have a focus on delivering the benefits 
of sport and physical activity. The Partnership will be led by insight and be 
person centred in its approach, providing strategic leadership, planning, 
and commissioning at a regional level, with a common purpose delivered at 
a local level ensuring that everyone has equal access to sport and physical 
activity through a range of opportunities that best meet their needs.  
 

T
udalen90



7 

 

The proposal is non-discriminatory as no protective characteristic will be adversely affected.  

The proposal has no impact on Welsh Language.  

The Proposal has no impact on biodiversity. 

The proposal is in line with the Council’s obligations under the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 

 

 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required   

Reasons for this conclusion    

 

 

 

 

 

  Name Position Date 

Completed by Paul Walker  Operations Coordinator 16/11/2022 

Signed off by  Andrew Thomas Director  16/11/22 

T
udalen91



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag


	Agenda
	4 Cofnodion y Cyfarfod Blaenorol
	5 Blaenraglen Waith 2022/23
	7 Bandiau C Ysgol/s
	First stage IIA

	8 Adroddiad Arfarnu Opsiynau Cefn Coed
	Cefn Coed Colliery Museum Options
	First_Stage_Assessment - Cefn Coed

	9 Creu Partneriaeth Ranbarthol ar gyfer Chwaraeon a Gweithgarwch Corfforol yng Ngorllewin Cymru
	Appendix 1 First Stage Assessment  Sports Partnership.


